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Message from the Director

When the Museum opened in 1993, its founders knew that its message was timeless, but
they could not have imagined that in the 21* century it would become even more timely.
As a living memorial, the Museum teaches the history and lessons of the Holocaust so
that both leaders and citizens will be motivated to confront hatred, promote human
dignity, strengthen democracy, and prevent genocide.

In a world with increasing ethnic violence and extremism, rising anti-Semitism, and
continuing genocide, our work has never been more pertinent or more urgent. We believe
that our programs for teachers, diplomats, law enforcement officers, the military, the
clergy, and concerned citizens help people understand the powerful lessons that history
holds for our own times.

Through its on-site programs, outreach activities, and Web site, the Museum is reaching
millions of Americans as well as a growing international audience each year with these
stark lessons: evil is not eradicable; indifference has consequences; freedom requires
responsibility. Inspired by the survivors, challenged by our times, and gratified by the
continued high demand for our programs, the Museum will continue in Fiscal Year 2009
to bring these lessons to millions more.

A

Sara J. Bloomfield
Director



Statement of Assurance

I, Sara J. Bloomfield, Director of the United States Holocaust Memorial Museum, state
and assure that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The system of internal controls of this agency is functioning and provides reasonable

assurance as to the: efficiency and effectiveness of programs and operations, reliability of
financial performance information, and compliance with laws and regulations. These
controls satisfy the requirements of the Federal Managers Financial Integrity Act.

(2) The system of internal controls of this agency that relates to the security of financial

management systems and performance and other financial data provide protections
commensurate with the risk and magnitude of harm resulting from the loss, misuse, or
unauthorized access and satisfy the requirements of section 5131 of the Clinger-Cohen
Act of 1996; sections 5 and 6 of the Computer Security Act; and section 3533(D)(2) of the
Government Information Security Reform Act and the Federal Information Security
Management Act .

(3) The financial management systems of this agency provide reasonable assurances that:

obligations and costs are in compliance with applicable law; performance data and
proprietary and budgetary accounting transactions applicable to the agency are properly
recorded and accounted for to permit the timely preparation of accounts; reliable
performance information, and to maintain accountability for the assets. The financial
control at this agency satisfies the requirements of the Federal Managers Financial
Integrity Act.

(4) The financial management systems of this agency provide this agency with reliable,

5)

timely, complete, and consistent performance and other financial information to make
decisions, efficiently operate and evaluate programs, and satisfy the requirements of the
Federal Financial Management Improvement Act section 803(a), the Government
Performance and Results Act, and OMB circular No. A-11 Preparation and Submission
of Budget Estimates. A remediation plan under FMFIA is not required.

) There are no material weaknesses reported.

Ay

Sara J. Bloomfield
Director
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Introduction

This report, Management's Discussion and Analysis, provides an overview of the financial position and
results of activities of the United States Holocaust Memorial Museum (the “Museum”) for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2008 (FY 2008). Prepared by Management, it is supplemental information to the
financial statements and the footnotes in Part 2 of the Performance and Accountability Report (PAR). This
information should assist readers of these statements in better understanding the Museum’s financial position

and operating activities.

As America’s national institution for Holocaust education and remembrance, the Museum brings the history
and lessons of the Holocaust to individuals from all walks of life through educational outreach, teacher

training, traveling exhibitions, and scholarship.

The Museum is a public-private partnership which receives an annual Federal appropriation as well as
private donations. The Federal appropriation primarily supports the basic operations of the Museum facility,
which is a national memorial. Private (Non-appropriated) funding primarily supports educational

programming, scholarly activities, and outreach.

The Museum is an independent establishment of the United States Government (Public Law 106-292—
October 12, 2000) and is governed by a board of trustees known as the United States Holocaust Memorial
Council (the “Council). The Council has 65 voting members and three nonvoting members. Of the voting
members, 55 are appointed by the President of the United States, five are appointed from among Members of
the U. S. House of Representatives, and five are appointed from among members of the U. S. Senate. Of the
three nonvoting members, one appointment is made by each of the Secretaries of the Departments of the
Interior, State, and Education. Presidentially appointed members serve five-year terms; Members of

Congress serve until the end of the Congressional term.

Performance Goals and Results
Having achieved extraordinary success in its first ten years, the Museum established a strategic plan that
provides a vision and framework for its activities through its second decade. The Museum had 43 established

objectives for FY 2008 related to education, remembrance, research, and infrastructure support. The Museum
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met or exceeded 22 objectives, partially met 18 objectives, deferred the targeted completion dates on two
objectives, and one objective was not met. Full details on these goals and the related results are presented in
the PAR that follows this section.

Financial Statements Summary

The Museum’s financial position remained strong at September 30, 2008, with total assets of approximately
$307.6 million and total liabilities of approximately $24 million. Net assets, which represent the residual
interest in the Museum’s assets after liabilities are deducted, are $283.6 million, a 17 percent decrease from
the prior fiscal year. The decrease in net assets is primarily attributable to investment depreciation and a
restatement of the beginning balance related to depreciation of the permanent exhibition’s capitalized cost

and a change in accounting treatment of unexpended appropriations. The restated amount is $26.1 million.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Contributions Receivable. The Museum has contributions receivable, net of allowance for doubtful
accounts and discounts to present value, of $23.9 million. Of these receivables, $8.6 million are current and

$15.3 million are due after one year.

Long-Term Investments. Long-term investments are the largest of the non-current assets and consist mainly
of donated securities and the investment of endowment funds. The current Museum investment policies call
for an asset allocation of 60 (—20 / +10) percent in equities, 30 (-15 / +15) percent in fixed income, and ten
(0 / +10) percent in alternatives for endowment investments. Included in the Museum’s interpretation of
equity and fixed income strategies are investments in limited partnerships, limited liability companies, and

trusts that seek a diverse range of equity and fixed income positions.

With the assistance of a highly qualified investment consultant, the Museum closely monitors all investments
by meeting periodically with individual investment managers, reviewing related management reports
including independently audited statements, daily monitoring public sources for issues of concern with these

firms, and continually assessing performance benchmarks and risk indicators.
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The endowment market value, $164 million, has decreased to fiscal year 2006 levels due to the economic
crisis. As outlined in the footnotes, the endowment consists of both board-designated and real endowments
which are pooled for investment purposes. As of September 30, 2008 the board-designated endowment
balance was approximately $46.9 million, and the real endowment balances totaled approximately

$117.1 million.
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Performance. The annual return for the pooled endowment fund this year was a negative 15.8 percent.
Included in the calculation of this performance figure are realized and unrealized gains / losses along with

investment income.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment is $97.1 million and consists of buildings and
improvement ($123.8 million), the permanent exhibition and other exhibitions ($37.7 million), furniture and
equipment ($15.4 million), leasehold improvements ($1.6 million), less accumulated depreciation of $81.4

million.

Liabilities. Liabilities consist primarily of accounts payable, accrued expenses and deferred revenue. Total

liabilities are $24 million.
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Net Assets/Federal Equity. The Museum has total equity of $283.6 million of which approximately $112.7
million is permanently restricted, and approximately $34.2 million is temporarily restricted by donors. The

Museum’s equity includes investments in the Museum buildings and exhibitions.

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

The Statement of Activities presents the Museum's results of financial activity for the fiscal year and matches

revenues to related expenses. The statement summarizes the annual gain/loss in equity.

Non-appropriated sources in FY 2008 provided 46 percent of unrestricted revenues and reflect the Museum’s
success in obtaining donor support for its program activities. Museum expenditures increased $11.1 million
(14 percent) from FY 2007 and are attributed to increases in payroll and contracts. Program services

comprise 70 percent of these expenditures. The charts that follow provide details.

Unrestricted Revenue

Grants 99 Payout 7%

Appropriations

Contributions 15% 54%

Shop & Other 3%

Membership 12%
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MANAGEMENT INTEGRITY: CONTROLS AND COMPLIANCE
The Museum maintains a comprehensive management control program through the activities of its internal
auditor and the Council’s Audit Committee, the review and monitoring efforts of its legal staff, and ongoing

proactive improvement efforts made by its management staff.
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Based on this program, the Museum has reasonable assurance that:

. The financial reporting is reliable.
. The Museum is in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.
. Management’s performance reporting systems are reliable.

In addition to these efforts, the Museum has also been accredited by the American Association of Museums.
In going through the accreditation process, qualified museum professionals conducted a thorough

independent evaluation of all aspects of the Museum, including a review of management controls.

The Director’s Statement of Assurance, as required under the Federal Manager’s Financial Integrity Act,

attests to these and other Federal requirements for financial management.

During this year’s audit, our external auditors noted deficiencies in their Independent Auditors’ Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. These deficiencies were the result of accounting transactions not

properly presented in prior years.

INVESTMENT IN FUNDRAISING

The Museum continues to make significant investments in fundraising operations in support of the
Museum’s programs and endowment. These activities include membership, planned giving, and major gift
officer operations. Annually, Museum management reviews and evaluates each specific fundraising activity
to ensure that the levels of expenditures are fully justified and are resulting in the desired return on

investment. Museum officials are available to discuss this work upon request.

LIMITATIONS OF THE FEDERAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements have been prepared to report the financial position and results of operations of the
Museum, pursuant to the requirements of 31 U.S.C. 3515(b). The statements have been prepared from the
books and records of the Museum in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The
Federal schedules included in the supplementary information are in addition to the financial reports used to
monitor and control budgetary resources and were prepared from the same books and records. The
statements should be read with the realization that they are for a component of the United States

Government, a sovereign entity.
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FUTURE CONCERNS AND ISSUES

As the lessons of the Holocaust become increasingly relevant to our own times, the demand for the
Museum’s programs has been growing nationally and internationally. While the current level of funding
covers the basic operating costs of the Museum facility, the Museum depends on private support for
educational programming and outreach. As demand for these programs increases and the Holocaust recedes
in time, it is increasingly critical to secure the financial future of the institution hence the Museum continues

to make a significant commitment to building the institution’s endowment.



PROGRAM PERFORMANCE REPORT

Mission Statement

A living memorial to the Holocaust, the United States Holocaust Memorial Museum was created
to remember the victims and to stimulate leaders and citizens to confront hatred, prevent
genocide, promote human dignity, and strengthen democracy. The Museum, which opened in
1993, was created in response to recommendations by the President’s Commission on the
Holocaust (P.L. 96-388), which mandated the following:

e QOperate and maintain a permanent living memorial museum to the victims of the
Holocaust,

® Provide appropriate ways for the nation to commemorate the victims of the Holocaust
through the annual national civic observances known as Days of Remembrance, and

e (Carry out the recommendations of the President’s Commission on the Holocaust in its
Report to the President of September 27, 1979.

Mission Goals
¢ Protect and Strengthen the Core of the Living Memorial
¢ Enhance the Nation’s Moral Discourse

¢ Secure the Future of the Memorial Museum

¢ Improve management and administration

Use of Non-Federal Parties
The United States Holocaust Memorial Museum is a public-private partnership and as such
employs staff with both Federal and non-appropriated funds. Both Federal and non-appropriated

employees contribute to accomplishing the mission of the Museum and subsequently to the
content of this report. No outside contractors were used to prepare the report.

Impact of FY 2008 Results on Future Performance Plans

The partially met objectives from FY 2008 are carried forward in the FY 2009 and later
performance plans, as necessary and where consistent with the current plans and funding levels.

-10-



Format of the Performance Report

The elements contained in the report are as specified in guidance issued by the Office of
Management and Budget in circular A-11. Required elements of the report are identified below:

Comparison of actual performance with projected level of performance — This information is
contained in the “YTD Results / Status” column of the report for each indicator for each
performance objective. Where the results do not describe status as exceeded, met, partially met,
deferred, or canceled it is an indication that no specific targets were established for that
objective/activity. The addition of a category for “no specific targets” is new for the FY 2008
report and thus precludes direct comparison with FY 2007.

Explanation of reasons for unmet objectives — This information, where required, is identified in
the results descriptions.

Description of plans to meet unmet objectives in the future — The FY 2009 and future
performance plans address any plans to extend unmet objectives into the future.

Evaluation of FY 2009 performance plan — This information is contained under “Impact of FY
2008 Results on Future Performance Plans.”

Funding applied — the summary report pages include information on obligations associated with
each of the mission goals. This information is based on a cross-walk of organizational structure
to goals and is not based on cost-accounting at the transaction level.

Availability of Additional Information

Additional information about the FY 2008 accomplishments and about the programs and public
resources of the United States Holocaust Memorial Museum is available through the following

means:

The USHMM Web site at http:/www.USHMM.org

James Gaglione, Budget Officer, (202) 314-0336; jgaglione @ushmm.org

-11-



SUMMARY ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT

Consolidated status of all objectives

Funding applied:

FY08 FY07 Change
Federal $46,021,253 $ 45,552,038 1%
Non-appropriated 41,808,297 33,406,664 25%
Total $87,829,550 $ 78,958,702 11%
Status of objectives:
FY 08 Results FY 07
No specific targets 9 17% n/a
Met or exceeded targets 22 42% 78%
Partially met targets 18 35% 14%
Deferred 2 2% 8%
Not met 1 1% 0%

GOAL: Protect and strengthen the core of the living memorial

Major objectives:

e  Operate the Museum and improve visitor services
e Rescue the evidence of the Holocaust

® Engage new audiences in Days of Remembrance
e  Shape the emerging field of Holocaust studies

Highlights:

® Visitation reached the highest level since 2001.

e Museum bridges recoated to address rusting of steel components

®  Opening of the International Tracing Service Archives brought vastly expanded archival
collections to the Museum and increased public access to information.

Digitization and database efforts provided improved access to collections

Initiated formal program of research on anti-Semitism topics

Funding applied to this goal:

FY08 FYO7 Change
Federal $31,531,167 $ 30,807,674 2%
Non-appropriated 13,584,533 10,056,408 35%
Total $45,115,700 $ 40,864,082 10%
Status of objectives:
FY 08 Results FY 07
No specific targets 6 30% n/a
Met or exceeded targets 8 40% 90%
Partially met targets 6 30% 5%
Deferred 0 0% 5%

-12-



GOAL: Enhance the nation’s moral discourse

Major objectives:

e Effectively use the Committee on Conscience to respond to contemporary genocide
e Increase the base of citizens with knowledge of the Holocaust

e Improve Holocaust teaching at the secondary level

e Improve the distribution of support to underserved communities

[ ]

[ ]

[ ]

Serve as a catalyst for professions of leadership
Use the Wexner Learning Center to enhance visitor engagement
Extend the impact of the Permanent Exhibition

Highlights:

¢ Genocide Prevention Task Force launched in November 2007

o World is Witness geoblog created through partnership with Google Earth

e Web translations of Holocaust Encyclopedia expanded into Urdu, Russian, Turkish and
Greek

Traveling exhibitions on view in seventeen states

Training program for state judges launched

Funding applied to this goal:

FY08 FY07 Change
Federal $6,903,701 $ 7,656,963 (10%)
Non-appropriated 9,427,529 7,121,669 32%
Total $16,331,229 $ 14,778,632 11%

Status of objectives:
FY 08 Results FY 07

No specific targets 1 8% n/a
Met or exceeded targets 7 59% 63%
Partially met targets 3 25% 26%
Deferred 1 8% 11%

-13-



GOAL: Secure the future of the Memorial Museum

Major objectives:

e Undertake fundraising efforts to fulfill the strategic plan and integrate fundraising plans with
programmatic priorities

¢ Enhance perception of the Museum as institution that teaches the lessons of the Holocaust and
encourages leaders and citizens to confront hate, prevent genocide, promote human dignity
and strengthen democracy

¢ Position the museum to anticipate and benefit from opportunities that support the mission

Highlights:

e Exceeded fundraising goal for the annual fund

e Press outreach generated global media coverage of museum activities during 2008, especially
surrounding the opening of the International Tracing Service archives and the display of the
Auschwitz SS photo album

e Relocated leased office space closer to the Museum

Funding applied to this goal:

FY08 FY07 Change
Federal $1,229,230 $ 1,157,865 6%
Non-appropriated 15,849,917 13,937,610 14%
Total $17,079,147 $ 15,095,475 13%
Status of objectives:
FY 08 Results FY 07
No specific targets 2 18% n/a
Met or exceeded targets 5 46% 100%
Partially met targets 4 36% 0%

-14-



GOAL: Improve management and administration

Major objectives:

e Pursue continuous improvement and excellence in financial and human capital management,
information technology support, and museum management and governance

e Address the relevant elements of the President’s Management Agenda

Highlights:
e Relocated leased office space closer to the Museum

e Initiated major human resources improvements
e Completed major upgrades to information technology infrastructure for both administrative
and programmatic functions

Funding applied to this goal:

FY08 FYO7 Change
Federal $6,357,155 $ 5,929,536 7%
Non-appropriated 2,946,319 2,290,978 29%
Total $9,303,474 $ 8,220,514 13%
Status of objectives:
FY 08 Results FY 07
Met or exceeded targets 2 22% 60%
Partially met targets 5 56% 20%
Deferred 1 11% 20%
Not met 1 11% 0%

-15-



syuouodwod [993s
JO Sunsni SSQIPPE 0] PAYe0II AIdM SIFPLIQ WNASNA

(eseyd Suniodar Surmp pappe 2a192[qo s1yy)

wea3oxd uoneyiqeyal pue Jredax
oy} y3noay) s3UIp[INg WNISNW AY) UTBIUTBIA

uSISop [1BI9p B SEY [ e

oseyd 1doouoo u3Isop e oARY 7 e
pare[dwod ¢ e

:s300load 0z JO 3w Aqenaeq

*J'd 9Y) JO UOHBN[BAD () oY) WOIJ
POALISP sa3ueRYD J0J SUOHBPUAWWIOIAI Judwa[du]

paro[dwo)) PN

800¢C
Ad Jo pua ay3 £q 199f0ad 31301301 *q° g oY) 919[dwo)

wnasnjy oy ut Surwweisord 9100 apraoid pue
uonIqIYXH JuduBULIDd Y} Jo 1oedwil oY) pualxy

961
up4ag :so1du]) 12N uonIqIUX Y} 10J SpeW 1M
suonearasar dnoid 161 "80/0€/6-80/S/8 PUe 80/+T/b

-£0/8/01 PISO[d Sem AIQ[[eD) UBMOY [OWWTY Y],

(00T Ut sdno1s 16¢
01 sypnsa1 aredwod) sentunyzoddo uoneysia dnoi3

puedxo 03 suonIquyxa [eroads 03 syisia dnois 10530

WNASNA] Y} J& SOOTAIIS JOISTA dAoxdw]

SIOYISIA QIS GO 6C8°66L YT o

POSIOM SINOY IOAUN[OA TG LE o

(9%11) 1Ud) SUIIRYT UL ZOZ98] =
(80/+2/¥0- LO/S0/01 YTep K19[[e3)
(9 L) KIRIED ¥ UL 90T9C] =
(%8€) DLY 09€°6Y9 =
(%61) sdnoI3 ur / G/ y7¢ =
SIONSIA 6Z1°00LT
:S1NSaI §00T Ad

SIONISIA QNS QOM S8YELTIT

PIYIOM SINOY JIAIUN[OA €8]°CT o

(%1 1) 1Ud) SUIIBYT UL LOC [L] =
(90/ST1/2T — 1/9 Yrep K19[[es)
(9%L) A39[[8D A UT 98G9T] =
(%¥€) DL 819°0SS =
(%61) sdnos3 ur [7L°90¢ =
SIONSIA 79L°CTO'T o
:suostredwod 1007 Ad

PaIom SINOY JOAJUN[OA e
UONBIISIA o
sonsnels Junerado wWnasnu [BIQUAL)

snye)s / SHNSIY

Jurpseq uosrreduod
J0 193ae) ‘pauueld £31ande Q007 AA

2A19[qQ

TVIHOIWHIN ONIAT'T HHL 40 HJO0D HHL NHHLONHILS ANV LOHLOYd 'TVOD

-16-



"SWA 8970 18 MOU UOTIO[0D [eI0 ],
UOTJO[[0D 9} 0} PIPPE SWAI 77 9

WNASNIA Y} JO SPASU UONIQIYXd PUB ‘UOHBINP
‘yoreasar 1roddns 01 suonismboe A1eiqi) snooq

“SQI[TWIE] II9Y) PUB SIOAIAINS
0) syuawnoop apiaoid o) pue UONII[Od )
ul YoJeasal aweu 110ddns 01 SI99)UN[OA WINASNIA
Jo dnoi3 mou & pue uorMISUL Y} SSOIOR
WOIJ JJe)s 9pIs Suo[e poures) pue pPaIry Jjeis MaN e
"UoIRULIOUI 10§ s)sanbax
000°L I9A0 U23q ABY 313} 8007 ‘YIL] Arenuef
ur oriqnd ay) 03 UoNd3[0d S.II oY) Sutuado 9oUlS e
“WAISAs ss900e J1[qnd paseq A[peoIq 210w
€ 9)8a10 03 ssa13o1d ur Suruue[d ‘wnasny Y} Aq
paxmboe aremijos paziferoads Suisn s19YoIeasal
0) 9[qISS9008 A[JUSLIND ST ATYOIE ST OUL e
"UoT399[[09 9y} woiy painydes eyep swreu
Q1eyS 0) SIoMm 9[qIssod pue ‘UOTII[0D Y} JO
a3pamouy aaoxduir 03 s309foad ‘S [ woij soweu
Q) 0} QOURISJAI 19))9q JO SANSSI OJUT SUOISSNISIP
Qureu papuaixa sey jo9foid sty uo uoneradoo) e

sonred pajsaIoUI 0) UOTBULIOJUT PASeq-duleu

SIY} QJBUTWASSIP 0 SI [BO3 Y], 'S.LI oY) Aq paieys
3ureq SuUONOI[0 A3NY Y} SB [[oM SB WAYSBA PeA
pue INJNHS 18 SUOTIO[[0d [BIUOWI)S) PUB [BAIYDIE
3unsIxe Auew ay3 SIpN[OUL SIY ], ISNBIO[OH Yy} JO
SWITOIA YSIMI[-UOU PUB YSIMI[ JO SIIINOSAI SWEU JO
Jjuswdo[oAap ay} “@o1AI0S SuIdRI], [BUOHBUIU] A}
pUB WIAYSBA PeA YI0Oq [IIM UONBIOQR[[0D U ‘Onsing

*J0}OBI)UOD QW)
-1ed e Aq pogjess ‘Suruuni pue dn ST 901jJO oY, 1A

“[ORIST UL YTOM/QAT]
0} JOqUISW JJels & J0J 901jJ0 Arerodwa) e 10} ue[d

saged
000°8C 1€ TuIe10) ‘SUONIJ[OD [BAIYOIE MAU G/ o
Areiqry
[eUONEN UBDOOION YIM JUIWIITE U Payoedy
ueispoife ], woij |
BI[ENSNY WOIJ 7
adoing woyy /¢
[o®IS] WO ()
BpRUR)) PUE SIS PIIU() oY) WOIJ GCT
‘SUONIA[0D MU TH¢

"BISY JSBAYINOS PUB ‘BOLIOWY UNE]
‘odoing uroseq ‘erensny ‘(OIS ‘s9elS paAaruN)
ur Ajurewrnad ‘sanIAnoe suonisinboe 0139)e1)s ansing

(Ss200€ pue JUSWIASRUBL SUONII[[0D SE [[oMm SE
SUOTO9[[09 Jo sadA) pue seare [[e sassedwooua
aAnd3[qo siyy) sded porynuapt [[1j pue spasu
[oIeasal pue UONIQIYX? 9AIAS 0] I[qe 113 SI
181} UOT}O9[[09 dAIsuaya1dwos a1ouwr & dojaaa(g

:Q0UQPIAF ) ANISNY

snye)s / SHNSIY

Jurpseq uosrreduod
10 J33ae) ‘pauueid £31ande Q00T Ad

2A19[qQ

TVIHOIWHIN ONIAT'T HHL 40 HJO0D HHL NHHLONHILS ANV LOHLOYd 'TVOD

-17-



‘mou pado[oaap 3uraq st s3urpjoy adey

onauSew Jururewal s, WNAsNJAl Y} JO SUNIeWIOfI
[eu3p ayp 10§ [esodoid y WAISAS JudwoFeurW
SUOTJOQ[0D MU S, WNISNIA Y} BIA 9q [[IM SMIIAIUIL
9sa1]} 03 $5900. 19s() ‘PAe[dwod uoneznISI(J PN

"uoneznisIp 800¢

I0J P[NPAYDS ST UOTII[[0D AINUL A ], ‘SSIOE QUI[-UO
puE [BAIAINS WIS} SUO[ JOJ SO[1J [BISIP MU Y} 21038
PUB SMITAIUI JOAIAINS 09PIA paonpoid-ININHSN
JO sIoy 00‘S A[Ieau Jo UONII[0D Ay} AZNI3I

‘parean
u99q 2ARY $109[qo TeuoOnNIppE G| 3w A[fenied

"900¢ u1 pa1duwiod
$1099[qo g¢t Jo 1811 Ajronid oy 03 Surpioode syoejnIe
uonIqIYX Juouewrod 918)01 puE ‘Jeal) ‘SSIsSSy

(uerd ooueuriojiad ur a10yMas[e aa1d2[qo
A3o[ouyoa ], uoneuLioju] Jopun 110dar snjeis 99s)

“dn-ue9[o eyep pue
UOTIRISTUI [RUTJ Y)IM WISISAS aseqelep juowoSeuew
SUOTO[[02 Jo uonejuswadwr 939[dwo)

(sse00® pue JUSWIASRUBL SUONIJ[[0D SE [[oMm SE
SUOTO9[[09 JO sadA) pue seare [[e sassedwooua
9A1193(qo siyp) sde3 payynuapI [[IJ pue spasu
[oIeasal Pue UONIQIYX? 9AIAS 0] I[qe Ja)3oq SI
ey} UOI309[[0d aIsudyaIdwos asowr € dojoaag

:(PONUNUO) OUIPIAT AY) dNISAY

snye)s / SHNSIY

Jurpseq uosrreduiod
10 J33ae) ‘pauueid £31ande Q00T Ad

2A19[qQ

TVIHOIWHIN ONIAT'T HHL 40 HJO0D HHL NHHLONHILS ANV LOHLOYd 'TVOD

-18-



-Ayrunuuod

[eo0] Jo/pue [ooyos J1ay) 10} weidolrd YO & 9reard
:JuoWAINDbAI MO JOYJBI ], MU B PIONPOIIUT
‘opramuoIyeu s[ooyos 03 s1aysod paynquIsiq
:uowaanbar ay) po[IIng 906 39U A[[enaed

SONIUNWWOD pue
S[OOYDS J1AY} UT SANIATIOR YO Ul 95eSus pue 9yeald
0 SMOJ[9 Joyoea ], SuISeInoous Je s)10JJo 9SeaIou]

OpIMplIom
pu® AIUNOD Y] SSOIOL SASeq Je SJUAAR YO
Suruued yym padreys [ouuosiad Arejrjiu 1oy
$90IN0SaI pue SuTUTRT} PIOURYUDS FTUNLBAID JO [BO3
o yim diyszomred 9ABIOQR[[OD B YSI[QRISO
0} 9mnsuy Juawageuey AunroddQ renbg

9SUQJO(J Y} Ik S[RIOLJJO/M SUOISSNOSIP PAIENIU] o
jreMNY pue

beiy ur Areyriur opnjout 03 yoronno paopuedxyg e
Sa1e)S ()G [[B Ul

SQOUQIPNE JUSWUIA0S 0) PI[IBW S[ELIRW YO o
swrergoid
[eUONEBONP PUE SIAMUOWID YO Suruuerd

I0J S9OINOSAI AIOW/M IS GO parepd) e

PN

JUOPNIS 9F9[[09 ‘SI0JBONPI ‘JUSWIIOJUS
me[ ‘Arejriuu :seouaipne A9y 0} yoeanno puedxyg

‘sweidord wnasny

Jo yadap pue yipeaiq aseomoys pue YOJ WY3ysy
ey} SIUSAQ JO Aevire y3noayy diysiopes] Joyjo pue
[1ouno)) ‘siouop [enuajod ‘SIOUOP 0} INO PAYILY
PN

s1ouoddns wnasnjp Jo UoneIoUA3
1xou oy 93e3ue 03 Jurweidod [eroads opraoig

(NOQ) 20oueIqUIdWY
Jo sAe( U1 seouaIpne mau a3e3ug

snye)s / SHNSIY

Jurpseq uosrreduod
10 J33ae) ‘pauueid £31ande Q00T Ad

2A19[qQ

TVIHOIWHIN ONIAT'T HHL 40 HJO0D HHL NHHLONHILS ANV LOHLOYd 'TVOD

-19-



2107 A 01 pakeop ojep uono[dwod [eury e
‘ungoq ¢ SWIN[OA UO YIOA

"600T Ad ut 19ystqnd oy
\Q®>:®ﬁ J10J 19818) U0 C pue [ sawnjoA I0J umtow:Em—Z °
o A[renaed

‘0102 A4 £q uonnoassiad 0} sasuodsax
ysmmaf uo 30afoxd sarpnis fearyore ue 9)[dwo))

"S9IUNOd G
pue sa)e1s ¢ Woij s319dxa /1 Jo SunsIsuod ‘WsnIag
-nue uo doysyIom YoIeasal IOWWNS | PAJoNpuo) e
"KouopIsal ypuowt ¢ Surmnp
WE[S] UI WSHIWS-U. U0 Apnis 9)0IM IQL], Wesseqg e
"BJOSQUUTIA] JO AJISIQATU) pue
‘K)IsI0ATU() BURIPUT ‘ININHSN 18 suonejussard apewr
INeD[[ORUL] Ure[y ISIferoads WSHIWAS-NUL YouaL] e
PN

sdIySMO[[9J pue ‘SaInjo9| ‘sIefoyos
[RUONIB)IAUI WLID}-JIOYS ‘dOYSIOM [OIBISAT JOUWNS
' y3noay) wsnwas-nue uo diysrejoyos ageinoduyg

‘G107 Ad 01 paAe[op arep uono[dwod [eur{ e
"600C A [Dun pakefap g awnjoa

10} SQLIIUQ JO uona[dwod pue | QWIN[oA JO SUNUL e

;joua A[renaed

" dwInjoA 10§ samue Sunerdwod

pue | swnjoa Sunurd are sjas1e) 8007 Ad "010T
Ad AQq sa11s uonuejap 19yjo pue ‘sopay3 ‘sdured
‘s101u99 3ulq[ry 1ZeN Jo erpado[oAous ue djo[dwo)

*SJUTET)SUOD JUIpUNj 0) NP

weiSord wnisodwAs 911S-U0 S PO[AOURD IJUD) YL, e
*SUOTIBZIUEBSIO JOY)O ¢ YIIM QuTeD )

ur JSNEO0[OH oY} U0 AJTATIOR 9)IS-JJO PRIONPUOD) e
‘STerI],
SQWILI)-Te AN SI9qUIQINN Pue ‘QoueL] AUYJIA ‘Q0IAIOS
Suror1], [RUONIBUIIU] ) ‘WSHIWSS-TIUE POpN[oUT
so1doJ, 'SQIMUNOd ()] pue sAJe)s ¢ WOIJ SIB[OYIS

61 Sursudwos sdoysyIom YoIeasar Jowwns f e

;jou A[renaed

9Is-1J0 saniAnoe patouted ‘erisodwAs
‘sdoys3yIom yoIeasar owwns ()7-9 Y3noIy) ISIodsIp
JO SONIUNUIWIOI/SIE[OYDS JO SYIom)u pling

"JOIBISaI JSNBIO[OH
I0J 9SINOJ YSIPPIX © POpPU)IE S9Je)S Q WIOIJ SIB[OYIS / o

‘epeue) pue D
‘so1e)s g7 WoIj s10ss9joxd GG I0J SIeUTWas AJ[Noe] € o
'O pue sajels (¢ ur swerdoxd sndwes g/, e

'S9Je)S G WOIJ SJUApPNIS

0 SpIeme [OIBIsal Juapn)s jenpeis g SAIUNod §
pue SOJBIS 9 WOIJ SIL[OYDS 0} SAIYSMOT[] YOTeasaI 97 e
:PIPINXY

(1eak 1od suoneiuasaid G/ -0G)

9ouasaxd/yoranno sndwed (194 1od ()¢-G7) weidord
SMO[[9] ‘(Ieak 1od 7) sreurwas A1noej ySnoayy yJom
SuIyOr9) PUE YOIBISAI SIB[OYOS AJISIOATUN JI[IOR,]

SONIANOE SUIYOR9) PUB YOIBasaI SHYD
Ul SIB[OYOS Paseq-A)ISIOAIUN mAU 96 paSeSuy :PIPIdXH

SONIATIOR SUIYORA)/YOIBISAI JO YI0MISU SHVD
Ul SIRJOYDS PAseq-AJISIAIUN MU () [-G/ oFe3ug

K)1TBYIA pUE 92US[[20X? SII 9jowoxd
0] SaIpms 1SNeOO0[OH JO Pl Surdiouwa ay) adeys

SOIPMIS JSNEOO[OH PAJUBAPY J0J I9JUI)D)

snye)s / SHNSIY

aurpseq uosrreduod
J0 193ae) ‘pauueld £31ande Q007 XA

2A1[qQ

TVIHOIWHIN ONIAT'T HHL 40 HJO0D HHL NHHLONHILS ANV LOHLOYd 'TVOD

-20-



"aseara1 orqnd 80O IPqUIAdR(
10y 1oystiqnd 01 paprwugns pue payo[dwiod 110dsy e
‘parerdwos
aseyd sisAJeue pue suonelnsuod oz suds e
LO0C TOQUISAON UI paydune] J1dD e
PN

"(dLdD)
9010 SB[, UONUIAIJ IPIO0UID) 3Y) JO JIoMm )
wolj unnsal ssurpurj uonuarald aprooussd aonpoid

UOT)UIAAI]
9p1o0URN) J0J AWApedY ) JO yorar ayy puedxyq

(sTe03 gHIN Jopun smeis 93s)

“I91UQ)) SUIUIBYT JOUXIAN AU}
ur 9p1oouas Areiodwojuod uo uonIqIYX Ue youne|

‘03u0)
pue uepng 03 din ssomim Surresq §oOg Jewruung
puUE S10JNQLIIUOD }$onS WOIJ SAINUS [RUOIPPY
‘03uo) sepuemy 03 din
.Ssomim Sulreaq,, WNISNJA JO 9IoM SILIUD JSI1J
So1qoan g [udy Ut ssauip S1 ploM Yreg
9[S00D) YIIM 9AIIBNIUT PUODAS Payoune] [[NdD e
"paIs9)
puE POJEaId Q0BJINUI QO Pue A1oysodareje e
PN

‘JeaIy) ©

SI 9PIOOUAT 9I9YM SINI[BO0] WIOIJ UOTJBULIOJUTL 9IRS
pue 1997109 0} (TINdD) 2anenw] Surddey uonuaaaig
opIoouan) ) uryim Axoyrsodar ejep 9jea1)

9proouad
JN0OQE AIBD OYM SUIZNID JO YJom)au ) puedxy

oprooudd Arerodwaiuod 03 puodsar 0) 9OUAIISUOD) UO APIWWOD) Y} SN A[QANIYJH

snye)s / SHNSIY

Jurpseq uosrreduod
10 J33ae) ‘pauueid £31ande Q00T Ad

2A19[qQ

HSYNOISIA TVION SINOLLVN HHL HONVHNA 'IVOD

-21-



6007 Surids ur pajoadxa
uone[resur :939[dwod usisop 1doouo)) 39w A[fenaed

"I1Ju)) SUTUIBYT JQUXIAN oY)
ur 9proouasd Areiodurajuod uo uonIqIIXe Ue Youne|

‘uononpoid ur are 9san3niiod pue ysoung,
"91IS QA S, WNASNIAl AY) UO AI] Ik soFen3ue|
J9210) pue ‘urISSNY ‘NPI() ‘dSAUIY)) )W A[[enaed

*(3[9910) UT 9)1S JOUTW

' ppe pue) sagen3ue] ‘YsDIN ], pue ‘9sangniiod
‘URISSTIY ‘NpI[) “9SAUIYD) OJUI IS IA\ S, WNIASNA
9y} uo erpado[doAdouy 1SNeO0[OH Y} dJe[SUBL],

‘vpuvdvdo.q

120N Jo aamod 2y ] uondada(g Jo 23pi§ ‘uonIqIYXd
[eroads oy Jo Suruado oy) yirm uonounfuod

ur 600¢ A Jo 1o1renb 1s11j oyl 01 PR

aAnenul ppundvdo.d Yy 0) pare[a1 syseopod pue
SO9pIA sk Yons s1onpoid I9y10 pue paseq-qam ea1)

soures wersord orjqnd
® pUB UODIQIYXS Y} UI 3SN JOJ [00) JUapnis e
Surpnjour ‘yoronno aouaIpne [e1oual Jurdoford e
woowisirewnol£,, s103pg
JadedsmapN Jo A19100§ uedLIOWY Ay} pue ‘weidord
DY Ay} “@ouarajuod diysioped] JInok ay}
y3noays sysieuanof Juspnis 03 yoeasno Suruue[d e
"SUOISSAS QUIAUO0D YSTW NINHS Y} Yorym
J& SOOUQIQJUOD PUB SUOTIUAUOD [eUOIssojoId
Suroodn je sonmuniioddo AJuopr 01 payIOA e
"PIe1J 2y} UI sjuopnis pue sjeuorssajord
1oy SurwresSoid Jnoge uONEOIUNUWIWO)) SSBIA
pue WSI[RUINO[ Ul UONEINpPH J0J UONRIO0SSY
U} puE ‘SISI[BUINO[ [RUOISSIJOIJ I0J AIA100S
) “@INNSUT SSAIJ UBOLIUIY ) SuIpnjour
szoujred Tenuojod Yiim SUOIIBSIOAUOD PAJeNIU] e
sysirewnol 1oy [opow 3ururer) e Suipmg
ur39q 0) SUOTIESIOAUOD J[QBIPUNOI AIY} PIUIAUO)) e
PN

*STeuOISS9§0xd SUOTIBROTUNIUIOD
1ayjo pue systrewnol 10y Surmweigoad
[eroads yam aanentul vpuvsvdo.d youne|

S918)S U9JUASS UI SANIUNTIIOD
InoJ-AJuom) poAIds SUONIQIYXS SUI[OARI], e
(suoniqryxe wnasnw 10J 93ed JUIMO[[0] 29S) e

PN

‘aprmuoneu
suonIqIyxe SurfoAes} ySnoIy) pue Wnasnjy ay) je
swesSoxd pojeroosse pue sUONIQIYX [e10ads Juasal

ISNEBO0[OH Y} JO
Koe39[ pue K10IS1Y 9y} YIIM Juawage3ua J0IISIA
Q0UBRYUS 0] JOJUQD) SUIUIBT JOUXIA Y} 3S()

apruoneu syonpoid ; swer3ord
Pale[al puE SUONIqIYXa SUI[QARI) JUISAI]

9sIn02sIp / an3orerp
renwuns 03 syonpoid ; swreisold pajefar
pue 9IS QOA\ Y} ‘SuonIqIyxa [eroads asn

soA1192[qo GHIN U} 1no A11e)

snye)s / SHNSIY

Jurpseq uosrreduod
10 333ae) ‘pauueid £31ande Q00T Ad

2A1[qQ

HSYNOISIA TVION SINOLLVN HHL HONVHNA 'IVOD

-22-



Kemopun juawrdoroaap 1deouoo,/yoreasay] G102 Ied—10¢ Sundg (A19[[BD UBMOY-[owWITY]) AJ1or[dwo) /uoneIoqe[[0)

1a1renb iy (K190 UBMOY-ToWWLY])
8007 Ad un3aq uoneouqe;y ‘939[dwod uSIsap [reoq 1102 1184 — 800T ‘07 T2qUIDAON ppundvdosd 12N Jo 1omod 2y [ :uondadia Jo amig

(391u9) Sururea| JouxaAy) (9PN Suryiom) Josloig

ungaq uJIsap [rejop ‘pazifeury ugdisop 3deouo) ¥107-600¢ Suldg asuodsay] aproouan) 9y [, :uondy 03 AIOWJA WO,
(1u3) uonedNpy LPUOn)) U017

MITA UD A1arugepu] - 900¢ ‘12 Tdy Jo suap ay1 Jo S]020304 Y] 21T SNOA2SUD(] Y

(191D Surured|

MIIA UQ K[eurepu] - GO0Z ‘07 Ioqudaq IQUXOMN) ¢ 2OUSH[ ST IDYM SIDILL SA2qQUIDANN Y ]

(197891 I, JJOUIQAQIN)

MITA UQ Aponugepu] - S00Z ‘11 AInf A2JDT SADIL U] DIIUILGIAS JD PAUOPUDQY

(191u9)) Sururea| IUXAM) (ADPO] dA1ANS [TIM

MITA UQ Apeyuryopuy - 600T ‘11 YoIeN oYM ubpng Unfav@—iINADIAWAT AAIDONAD
(191u9)) SUTUIBYT JOUXIM)
MIIA UQ 8002 I1BI—+00T ‘91 ABIA $L0IDA2qQYT UDILIDULY JO YInd Y] SUUIUNIO(]
800¢/0¢/y 30 Se aseyd S9JB(J UONBIUISAI] 15T ], O1dO /SN, UONIqIYXH

:suonIqIYXa [eroads 103 11odar smeys

HSYNOISIA TVION SINOLLVN HHL HONVHNA 'IVOD

-23-



-3unno) ur3aq 01 6007 Ad O IS] 9ep 19318,
"SANISIOAIUN AQ SN J0J 208y JAISBIA Y} Sunear)
:QUIDIPAAl A[pBa( JO UOISIdA Mau ® Jutuue[d
Jow Aqenaed

‘3ursanu pue yieay d1qnd ‘ourdipow

Ul SI9PEI[ 2Ininy J0J Surures) soyld SunsIxa
9OUBYUD 0} WN[NILLIND SOIYI SUOISSFo1d a1edy)[eay
UI JUSJUOD PIJ[aI }SNEI0[OH JO 958sn aseaIou]

syuedronred ¢/ ‘swei3ord ¢ :sjuopmys me/so3pn[ e
syuedronted

89/‘¢ ‘swerdord 7/ :JUAWAOIOJUY MBT/OI[0J e

syuedronred ggg°g ‘sweidord g AR o
syuedronted

016 ‘sweiSord gz :SOANNIIXI JUSWUIIAOD) e

PN

sroured
JUIIND WIM SuruIes] papua)xe 1oy santuniroddo asearouy

800 2unf — () BUOZLIY
800C [Hdy—OJIXIN MAN
8007 unf /007 IOqUIAON—SEXJ],
L00T 12qo100—ewWoyeRO
$9)8)S WISIMYINOS
8007 Ioquaydos—eyseIqaN
800¢ 2un{—=ejoye(y YIoN
800 dun[—sesuey]
800¢ Tequraidag ‘800¢ [Hdy—uyein
sure[J/surejunoj A0y
800¢ [Hdy—uo3a10
800 11dV ‘00T 19qoIwQ—eIuIofI[E)
S9J€)S WIIISIA
:3ururer 10yoeo) paseq AJUNWWOD) e
"SUOISI SOJB)S UIISOAN /UTBIUNOIA
KYo0y o ur ¢ ‘sroquiowt sdio)) uoneonpy [BUOISAY (O e

‘swes3old Sururen

JIoUOE9) Paseq AJIUNWWOD PUB SIJBIS UIAISOAN

pue sue[d urejunojy Ao00y Surziseyduro sroquriow
sd10)) [euoneonpy [euOISOY JO JoquINU A} ISLAIOU]

PN
oIS SOLIaS
Q2 S, WNAsn oy 03 pappe saposida 1seopod §7 | yseopod / orpne WSHIAS-NUY U0 SITOA ) puedxy
PN

Sururen somyie [eorpawW

puUe senIuBWwNy Ul [BLIDJBW PIje[al }SNBI0[0H
Suneiodioour ur palsaIaluI SISIONYIA0Iq

/ S[euotssajord [esrpawt Jo yIomiau pling

soouarpne diysiope9|
IOUIO PUB JUSWIOIOJUD MB[ ‘JUSWIUIIAOT
‘Krejiua 10j surei3oid jo yoear puarxg

$9OINOSAI
pue Sururen I9yoed) IQAIQP 03 Ajoeded asearouy

$1001
[eoLI0ISIY  S1I pue WSHIWAS-Nue Areroduwajuod
Jo ssouareme asearour o) Surweigord dojeasq

PaNuUIUuOd - $9ANO2[qo FHIN Y} 1Mo A11e)

snye)s / SHNSIY

Jurpseq uosrreduod
10 J33ae) ‘pauueid £31ande Q00T Ad

2A19[qQ

HSYNOISIA TVION SINOLLVN HHL HONVHNA 'IVOD

- 24-



00S°809°1 1§ Sul[e0) “a[qeynuenb

QIoM SJUSUIITWITIOD 9t Y} JO 77 "UMOUY opewl
SIUSUNTWIWIOD MU Qf, PIpPPE SUTAID) PoUUR[ e

JpewW SIUSUWIIUILIOD

Ul UOI[[IWG {7 :JUSWMOPUD S WNISNA )

01 9J]S3 J19Y) Ul 2I0W JO UOI[[IW |§ JO SIOUOp J0j
K39100§ SI3pUNO Y31 JO AOBTIT MU payoune| e

"000°00S$ 12A0 PIsIel pue 12qojo(Q) Ul
AueuLIdD) pue pue[od O} PI[eARI) SI0UOp Jofew ()G e

PN

saAT309[qo pue sowayy
onewer3oxd Jofew oy punore s3103Jo Julsreipuny
Jolewr I9U)0 puE SOATIENIUL JUSWIMOPUS YOUNe |

TWEIN pue ‘uojey
00g ‘s9[o3UY SO ‘00SIOURI] UBS “S[I0 X MON
‘uoisog ‘A1) Sesuey ‘puB[OAI[D) UI P[AY SJUIAT e
*SIOpPUNO,] pue SSUIA\
10J SOLIAS 9INJO9[ , WNIO, UOISUIYSBA,, POUOUNE e
“UIay] BpIRn) Iouoy 03 sIsans ()0§
A1TeqU )M JOQUIDAON] UI JOUUL( XIUA0Y I1SI] e
"UOI[[IUI "¢ PISIET puB [9SATM
QI paInjeay 19q030() Ul U0dYOUN 05edIy) e
“IRuuI YOJ 2y e uor[iur ¢§
10} 93U9[[eyd PIIY) B PAYOUNE[ SSOY 210 29 O e
'stogsa(g
Yoie "I pue ssoy 2107 29 oy Sulouoy
Jouurp oy papuane ofdoad (. IoAQ :popnjour
SIYSIYSIY 9ouBIqUISWY JO SAB(] [BUOLIEN e
PN

s1oyeads wnasny pue ‘sjuaAd [enuUE ‘SUONIQIYX
Surjeaen y3noayy sanianoe feuor3ar dofoasq

*$110JJ9 yoranno Ioj Jurdessouwr
orenrdoadde pue wnasnjy oy jo suondoorad suruiolop
0} SIOJISIA WNISNA YIIM Yoreasal dnoi3 snooq

SIOQUIW 9UI00Jq OYM SIOJISIA WNASNW
Jo Joquunu ay) osea1our 0} sarsojens dojeasq

sonuond osnewweisord yrim
sue[d SuisreIpuny Jo UOIBIZIUL ) 9SBAIOU]

(ou1[aseq) SpL'8ET 900T
L8ELST LOOT e

6v9°T91 800C
:(qmoi3 a8ruadiad
J0U JNq JUNOD 39318} PIASIYOE) )W A[[enaed

"000°SS1
01 9] £q SIoqUIW MU JO JOqUINU JY} ISBIOUT 0}

sy103Je uonisiboe diysroquiow payogie) aelIopun

“JUSWMOPUD UI UOI[[IW "¢ PUB Spunj [enuue
UL UOI[IW {'7€$ PIsTey 1600T Ad 19U AJfenaed

JUSWMOPUR UI UOI[[IWL ()[§ pUe
Spunj [enuue uI UOI[[IW ¢'67$ osrey 13181 8007 Ad

opeoap 1xau oy} J1aA0 ued o1391e1g
Uy} [[Y[NnJ 0} S}I0JJ SuIsreIpuNng AYelIdpU()

snye)s / S)Nsay

durpaseq uosrreduwod
J0 193ae) ‘pauueld £31ande 8007 XA

2A1n23[qQ

NNASAN TVIIOWHN HHL 40 HINLAA HHL HINDHS TVOD

- 25-



"SJUQAQ FUISTRIPUN] [BUOT)EU PUE [BD0] UT 9SEaIOUl
jueoryruSts pue werSord [9ALI} [EUOTJBUIOIUT MU
yoddns 0 Jje1s s1uaAq [e10adg [eUONIPPE 0M) PAITH e
'so1391811S
juowrdo[eAap pue SUNONIEW ‘SUOTIROTUNWITIOD
0} yoroidde oAIsuoya1dwod aI0W € JOJ SPAdu
Surgyels pue S1I0JJ9 yoranno pue SuISeSSoul PIssassy e
:Joua A[enaed

*s[eo3
Surstespuny 11oddns 01 A39181)S SUOHEIIUNWWOD
aatsuayardwod uo Juawdo[aAd YIm NI

*9pI100Ua3 JO S[enpIAIPUT
U0 9939 9y} INOQe IPIMPIOM SIasN YRy 9[S00D)
Suruiojur 10J S0[qoas B  ‘SSAUIIA ST P[IOA,, PUOUNET e
sordwA[O 1ZeN yym uonounfuoo ur
s19sn Aq pareys A[ISes 9q 0} JUAJUOD SUI[UO SMO[[E JBy)
JOSpIM,, QoM B PAINQLISIP PUB OIPIA MU PAONPOIJ e
9IS QO ) 0] TOAQ S)ISIA JO JOqUINU
1593Ie[ UI PAJINSaI WIng[e §S AY) J0J JUAJUOD QAN o
PN

*[00) [euoEONPS puk ‘Surdessow
‘SursreIpuny e se 9JIs g\ 9y 9jowoxd pue aouryuUH

"9010,] S, UOTIUIAI]
9pIOOURn) Jo youne[ Je Yoeanno ssaid Jueoyiusis e

'SIOY)0 pue ‘ssoxd UBUIIAN) ‘SSAIJ PARIOOSSY

9504 UOJSUTYSBAN UT SI[OT)IR AINJBJ UT PJ[Nsal
uonIqIYx? sordwA[Q 1ZeN I0J YJoraNNO pue SUISILIIAPY e

I0MIU UOISIAQ[Q} o1ydeiZoan

[eUOnEN 9} UO PUB JOYIOX MIN ‘SOWIL], IO X

MIN] ) UT SaINJea) Surpnjour ‘93819409 [8qO[3/[euUOnBU
peaidsopim pojerousd wnqe ojoyd §S ZMYISNy e
PN

SOATIET)IUL WNJSNIA
Ao punoie a3e19A09 ssa1d aanisod ajerousn)

oSewI s WNASNIA AY) dOUBYUD
pue uorsstw oY) 11oddns 1ey) senunizoddo woiy
1Jouaq pue edronue o) WNISNIA Y} UONISO]

"JoIeasaI opIn} uonIqryxe epuesedorq pajerduwio) e
-9oe[d 00} sdnoi3 snooy diysIoquIojy e

‘doysyrom
Surpuelq pue Sunsay ofessow jo aseyd Isif paIonpuo) e
PN

S1I0JJ0
Suneyrew jo 1roddns ur yoreasar douIpnE OeIISpPU)

"}10JJ9 SuISessow

Mau Jo Jred se S[eLIoJeW JUSWMOPUH JO SILIOS Paonpold e
RUEINY

Kmuapr owydes3 dojoaap 0y wry uSisop page3ug e

;P A[enaed

Ppasnooj-aIming
pue ‘areradoidde “qualSISUOD ‘QAISOYOD aIB SoFeSsSow
2INSua pue AIUPI [BNSIA S, WNISNIA Y} SULFIY

*KorI00Wap UAYISULIS pue AuIp uewiny
91owo1d ‘oproouad juaaaid ‘arey JuoIJUOd 0}
SU9ZNIO pue SIOPEI SABINOJUS pUE ISNBIO[OH
9Y) JO SUOSSI[ 9Y) SAYOBI) Jey) UonMINSul

se wnasnjA 9 Jo uondeorad soueyur

snye)s / SHNSIY

Jurpseq uosrreduod
10 J33ae) ‘pauueid £31ande Q00T Ad

2A19[qQ

NNASAN TVIIOWHN HHL 40 HINLAA HHL HINDHS TVOD

- 26-



*$110JJ9 INO Ul AJrunwiwiod
JOATAINS 9y} 95eSuo 01 SUOHLIIUNWWOD

-0 pue 9IS QO AY) ‘SAIISISI] JO OS] e

‘A391ems ssaxd pue uSreduwres

pe [euoneu e ‘s3uryoriq diysiopes] 9JIs-uo

0M] PIPN[OUI YOBAIN(Q) ‘SSAITUOY) JO SIOQUIJA] B

yim uoneradood ur ‘epLIof Ul pue suonezIue3Io

1oured [850] SUTA[OAUT SOTIUNUIWIOD

A U1 sjuaa9 Furyeriq Ayrunwwod orqnd

UQZOp © URY) 2I0W JUIPN[OUT ‘AJUNWWIOD ST}

9AIas 03 AI[Iqe Ino pue Jutuado AIYIIR AIIAIIS

Suroe1], [PUOTIBUISIUT O} PUNOIE OPIMUOLIRU
SONIUNUIWIOD JOATAINS O} YOBANNO JAISUAX e

*SQIOUAM1ISU0D
PIeMo)s PuB ‘SIQOUSN[JUI YIIM J0uuo0d ‘sdiysioulred
PIINQ 0} SPOYISW SUOHEITUNTITOD JATIBAOUUT 98]

(ponunuoo)

o3ewr S, WNASNJA Y} OUBYUD

pue uorsstw 2y 11oddns jeyy senmuniroddo woiy
11Jouaq pue dyedionue o) WINASNA 9Y) UOTIISOJ

snye)s / SHNSIY

Jurpseq uosrreduod
J0 193ae) ‘pauueld £31ande Q007 AA

2A19[qQ

NNASAN TVIIOWHN HHL 40 HINLAA HHL HINDHS TVOD

-27-



“QuIooUT
KreAo1 10m0] 0} A[Lrewrid anp 9NUOAAI UT 9SBAIOI(

"09S'€TS$ JO [#10) NUDAAI §OOT Ad $19WI JON

TESYLSS @101 L00T
X "S901nos anuaAal [euonippe g dojoaap — sanianoe

ssaursnq woly anuaAal pajeridordde-uou asearouy

"S9NSSI JuowaFeurw ddurULIOfIad [BIoUaT

pue 9[045 [esteadde sourwIo)Iad 9y} paIoA0D UOISSIS
3811y 9y, "siosiazadns 10j sdoysyiom Aprairenb jo
SQLIOS B UI JSI1J AU} PAJonpuod JYH ‘uonippe uy ‘60Ad
ur s10s1AJadns 03 Ino pay[o1 3q [ uerd pue Aorjod
QUL "SOAIINOAXA pue ‘s1ageurw ‘s10siatadns ‘s1opeo|
we9) JoJ ue[d pue Korjod Sururen e podojorap
S90IN0SY UrWNY ‘Ioirenb puooas oy Uy (PN

Ieak-pru Aq ueld pue Aorjod Sururen; dofeae(q -
:3981e) o1j103ds 8007 Ad

:$9A103[qo pue s[eo3 [euoneziuedio Jurysidwoooe
ur s1os1azadns WNasNIA J0J 90IN0SAI JUSWFeURUI
B SB S90IN0SY UBWINH JO 9sn 9Anor01d 9y 191S0,]

"19)1enb pu0odas AY) UI papTwIqns

9q 1M JUSWIASEURW JOTUSS 0} SUOTJEPUIWITIOIT
s.dnoi3 sures) 100fo1d o pue ‘6o X Jo Ioyrenb
js1y oy ur aoe[d aye) [[1m dnoin) Joupies) oyl yPm
S3UneoW [BUONIPPY 'SWAISAS [ 2Iminj pue Jualind
S WNISNJA JO AINJOANIYDIE Y} UMM UOTIBIZIUL

S)1 pue walsAs [joiked / [ouuosiad mau e 10§
sjuawaanbal waysAs ssnosip 03 dnoin) Joupien) ay)
pue SUOIIN[OS SSAUISNY SOTUBUA (] }JOSOIDIA WOIJ
soAneIuasaxdaI yim s3UNeaW PJoNpUOd SIOQUISU
JJeIs Koy 1oyjo yim Suofe 101JO ASo[ouyd9],
JAIYD ‘19010 UOHBUWLIOJU] JOIYD) PUE “ILJO
[eIOURUL] JOIYD) ‘S90IN0SAY ULWNH JO JOJOI(

o) ‘1eaA [BOST 9y} uLn(] — SuroIuQ :)ouW A[enied

-1911enb puooas g A 2y JO puL 9y} Aq JuswdeUB
JIOTUAS 0) SUOT)EPUIWITOII Judsaid pue yoreasar
9191dwos 01 wes) 309foad € 9JvaId [[IM SOUBUL]

pue JH ‘siopraoid [joiked ayepijosuod 03 sydwene
9padaid prnoys sisAeue yadop ur Joylang jey) jedrpul
s3urpuly [enway “Ayfeuonduny 1opraoid pue ‘spoou
I9sn ‘sjuowaainbox waysAs ([[oiked A[9[0s JO pealsur)
[1o1ked/jouuosiod juarmo jo yoreasas Areurwurjord
apnjour 0) papuedxe ueaq sey 309loid sty yo odoos
QU - uoneprjosuod 1apraoid [joifed jusworduy

60
XA ot Sumunuos sjusAd JuisteIpunj pue SOOIAIOS

juowdooAap uo snooy :K1IAnoE 0D oW A[fenied

soLjow Qoueuriofrod
pue urpuads 201jj0 Juswdooaap azATeuy

800¢ ‘LT 1dy pajerdwiod
Syoeq arep paysnd sAefop Suiseo  :jow Affenaed

L00T ‘0€ Toquiada( Aq aoeds 901JJ0 PIsed] 9Jed0[ay

‘epuady JUSWSeURIA
S JUSPISAIJ AU} JO SJUSWI[S JUBA[I
SSQIppE pue WNISNIA Y} JO UOHBNSIUTUPE PUB
410ddns A3o[ouyo9) uonewIoul ‘yuauIageur
S90INOSAI UBWINY ‘JUSWOTLULW [BIOURBULJ UT
QOUQ[[29X2 PUE JUAWA0IJWI SNONUNUOD aNSIng

snye)s / SHNSIY

Jurpseq uosrreduod
10 J33ae) ‘pauueid £31ande Q00T Ad

2A19[qQ

NOILVILSININAYV ANV INHINIOVNVIN HAOYdIAI ' IVOD

- 28-



'600C Te9A [eos1y SuLnp uonoe 10j pado[oaap
3uroq are s[rejep reuonippy ‘[euuosiad A9y 10j A[uo spied
1 mau jo yuswko[dop pajIwWI| & 0) PISIADY :PILIIPJ

‘JJe)s JOJ SpIed uoneduaPI MU J0J sjuswaImbar
K11IN09S pUB[OWOY Y} ‘AILINd9S Iim juawarduuy

*SJUOAD WNISNUI JSOUW JOJ UOTIEIISISAT
QUITUO JOJ PAILAIO AIRMIJOS JUSWASBUBW JUIAY e
'SPV 9[3000) Ul JunayIew AUIUD e
000°C$ 0 008$
wolj pasearout safes A[puowt doys wnasnj UIfU) e
‘paystuly
A11eau st uonejuowddwl pIed JIPAId PAJRWoINY e
"ALA %99 AQ UMOIS sey ISI] [lew e
1PIPIXH

"uonnos
QOIAIAS Sk 2IeM}JOs e st AJiiqeded juowageuew
JuaAd aurfuo Jusuwredwy -aurpuo sjonpoid

9s0Y) 193JeW pue (0ISWW09-9) doyg wnasny
auruo ay) 0y sponpoid ppe pue ‘9)1s QoL Y

BIA SUIAIS pIed JIPAId dJeWoINe ‘Sagessouwl Jo AJoLIeA
PUB 9,()S AQ WA)SAS A3 UI SISSAIPPE JO JUNOWE

oy} Sunuawdne AQ SWAISAS AIQAI[P [IBW MOID)

"800C 1B Ur 3Iels

0) onp SISATeUR 9INJO)IYOIR UOT)BULIOFUT Ue AQ PIWLIOJUT
9q 1M pue sso13o1d ut [00) ATUD BJep pue-juoIy uo

yiop 1edwoo st juowdooasp dseqele(] Joul A[fenieq

"91IS QO S, WINASNIA
9} 10J WISISAS JUSUIaSeURW JUSIUOD © p[Ing

JAV ! Ul paSeuew pue nAH Ul pan3o[eyed
9q [[IM SAAIYITY 0l0Ud Y} Ul saSewl [[e Jey) Os
DA YA POIBISIIUI WISAS JUSWSBURIA 19SS [eNTIJ e
9[NPaYds uo pue ssa13oid ur eyep SOAIYOIIY
0JOYJ pue ‘OISNJA] ‘09PIA Pue W[L] JO UONRISIW [eUL] e
'sIseq A[Iep € U0 9seqeiep 9y} aSn SAJIAIS
UOoNd[[0) PUE ‘SIORJIIY 29 MY ‘SOAIYIIY UL JJRIS [[V
way)
9QUIOSOP B} SPI0JAI [9A] W) PUB UOIII[[0D ) (PIM
pajun-a1 3uraq Ie SUOIIII[[0d JO saje3onns B3I e
"PIoY 21k $199[q0 ‘s1oejIIIe ‘SUOIIOI[[0D AIYM SUOIIBIO]
[eo1sAyd [[& 0] ISIX MOU SPIOIAI AJLIOYINE UONBIOT] e
“(Wshs
JuoWoFeUBW SUONOI[0 Y} Ul PapIOdl a1e Y0007 Ad
10J suonisiboe mau [[e ‘9°T) suonisinboe mou [[e p109a1
0] PISN MOU ST WIA)ISAS JUSWOSeUBW SUOTIOA[0D YL, e
:Jow A[enaeq

‘dn-ues[o ejEp pue
UOTIRISTUI [RUTJ Y)IM WISISAS aseqelep juowoSeuewu
SUOT)O[[09 Jo uonjeyuawadwt a)o[duro)

swaIs£s A3o1ouyo9)
wnasnjA Jofewr 10§ JYSISIOAO OPIAOI]

SE)S / SHNSAY

Jurpseq uosrreduod
10 333ae) ‘pauueid £31ande Q00T Ad

2A1[qQ

NNASAN TVIIOWHN HHL 40 HINLAA HHL HINDHS TVOD

- 29-



80/¥72/90

swaj)sAg ABojouyoa] -
seseqeje( -
awAojdw3 |enb3 -
|9suno) [eJauan) -

SJUaA] [eroadg -
slleyy/ JOAIAINS

diyspiemals [euomypsu] -
suoljejay |1ounoy -

Buinlg pauueld -

$90IN0S9Y UBWNY - Buiysiignd uswmopug -
soueul - SUOIEDIUNWWOY) - pun4 [enuuy -
SWILSAS INJWIOVNVIN SHIV44VY TVNY31X3 ONISIVHANN4

FANLNd FHL F_NDO3S

S92IAI8S UON}Od)0Id -
suonelsadQ -
S92IAIBS WNasn -

ONIATINg NNISNIN

suoljeol|qnd dlwapesy -
slejoyog BunsIA -

swelboid Aussaniun -
uelo)sIH Joluag -

SJe|oyoS yoleasay paljddy -
S31ANLS L1SNVOOTOH
J3ONVAQY H04 ¥31N3D
3FH0J TVIIOWIN FHL NFHLIONIHLS ANV 133103dd

STVOO TVNOILNLILSNI

Ansibay sloAANG -

sweibold [BAIYDLY [euoneusaiu| -

3JON3dIAT FHL INOS3Y

ABojouyoa] yoeasnQ -

Aresqr - uofeanp3 dliqnd - J8)U8n Buluies -
uonuanaid

9pIo0USL) IO} AWSBpPEedY -

JON3IOSNOD NOILYONAd3 LSNVOOTOH

NO FFLLINNOD  ¥0Od ILNLILSNI TYNOILVYN

3SJNODSIA TVION S:NOILVN FHL SONVHN3

SUoY8||0D -

Jlyosogsoy ydasop
S92IAI9S UOI}09}0id

snisoig Aisuy|
suopesadQ

J9NED) [NEd
S32JAI9S WNasN|y ueulayaH uyor
uoneanp3 dljqnd

uewmog epuAT

juswAhojdw3 jenbg jueoeA
uonuanald
uewzng) oluojuy aploouan

$92IN0SaYy UeWNH 10} Awapesy

IBUABA BSIT
siejoyas Bunisia

yolaualyg Heqoy

sweliboid
uewp|o9) AsjeH [seyoIN Aysianiun
AnysiBay si1oAIAING
(Bunoy) yoe|g Jajed
sdijilud piemp3 Yawolz yep uelIO}SIH Joluag
suoniqiyxgy Kieaq
piueo| npey
juedoeA nejxoy sinel] sweiboud [eAlyaly
uopednp3  sadiAI8S SUOIIIB||0D |euonjeusaju]

Aluo@ aunsuyy
13beuep j0afoid JHIN

snaeype usbienp
yoieasay paiddy

19|[IIN BOOS
slieyy |elojeind

Apeig sawer
juswiainosold

wyay Ausp
doyg wnasnpy

ueJeyaselpuey) ‘S
swaysAg ABojouyosa |

auolbeo Aep
jebpng

eysa Jaydoysuyn
ABojouyos9a] yoeannQ

leeyoiwie)
I
192140 |e1doueulq
Jo1y9 Andeg

X04 8|j0JeD
s991A19g Juawdojanag

uew||aH abio0a9

eJiedl elpeN BulAl9 pauueld
SjuaAg |eloadg

Jayoalg st

uewzjjes auelq spi9 |ediduLd

(sdreyy JoAIAING)

(suonelay j1ouno)

uleIsuIs ) eueq
diyspiemays [euonniysu

diysisaquiay

Biagpasi4 uesp
suopedsuNWWo)

uesep

OUE|OdeN ueq
sweiboud 10}
juswdojanaq jo
1030341 Aindag

JouIed AWy
juswmopug
pue pun4 jenuuy
‘4a1yn Aindag

uewsa|o) |jeue JugoeA

uohelsiipy ELITETE IS

pue suopeisado uo wou.u_EEoo
.E:mw:s_ ‘1030011
10300410

aInibo yeles Jabi1aquni oJideys |ned
uoneanpg 1o_ydIN S3IpN)S }SnedojoH
}SNED0|OH 10} dNj3su| suoio9j|09 pasueApy 10}
leuoneN ‘1030211 ‘10300.1Q 13jua9 ‘1030a11g

Jawelsy| plouly

Jepeimsg Aue yesme4 uyor sjoafoid
199130 199130 [euonniysu|
uopewuou| a1y | | [e1oueuld Ja1yo 10} JOSIADY

weiboud Joluag

ayny pleuoy Biagp|oo eleq wnequauue] uepliop
|Jesuno) slieyy 1991130
|esauan |eusa)x3 ‘4030a11q juawdojanaq Ja1yo

suosled Well[ipn
Hels Jo J21Iyo

playwoo|g ' eles

Jojo0a1Qq

[I9UNO) [BLIOWA }SNBIO|OH S9jelS pajiun

(eamwwo ypny ay) 0} sodal)
Zemyos |8\
J0)pny |euJaju|

wnasn |elloWa|\ }SNe20|oH Sajels pajiun

- 30-



Message from the Chief Financial Officer

I am pleased to present the United States Holocaust Memorial Museum’s Fiscal Year 2008
Performance and Accountability Report which presents both financial and performance information
on the Museum’s operations in a combined report for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2008.
This report satisfies the reporting requirements for the following:

Accountability of Tax Dollars Act of 2002

Reports Consolidation Act of 2000

Government Management Reform Act of 1994
Government Performance and Results Act of 1993
Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990

Federal Managers’ Financial Act of 1982

Section 2308 of the Museum's authorizing legislation

The Museum received an unqualified opinion on its consolidated financial statements for Fiscal
Year 2008. These statements fully account for both the Federal and non-appropriated funds.

In the past year, we continued efforts to refine and improve the Museum’s consolidated financial
system with the goal of providing Museum managers, Council members, Federal oversight
officials, and the general public with timely, accurate, and useful financial information. Significant
financial management achievements of the past year include:

e The refinement of operational performance metrics to ensure th eoperation of efficient and
effective financial and procurement systems

e Increased net revenue from business activities

e Continued progress on eGov initiatives for e-travel

e The automation of the accrual process

We remain committed to providing the Museum with the highest levels of financial management

services and ensuring the efficiency, economy, and effectiveness of the Museum programs and
activities.

Minnie P. Carmichael
Acting Chief Financial Officer
United States Holocaust Memorial Museum
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2001 M Street, NW
Washington, DC 20036

Independent Auditors’ Report

Council Members
United States Holocaust Memorial Museum:

We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of the United States Holocaust
Memorial Museum (the Museum) as of September 30, 2008, and the related statements of activities, and
cash flows (hereinafter referred to as “financial statements™) for the year then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Museum’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Bulletin
No. 07-04, Audit Requirements for Federal Financial Statements. Those standards and OMB Bulletin
No. 07-04 require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Museum’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Museum as of September 30, 2008, and the changes in its net assets and its cash
flows for the year then ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As described in note 15 to the financial statements of the Museum, net assets as of September 30, 2007
have been restated from the Museum’s previously issued financial statements, which were audited by other
auditors.

The information in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Program Performance Report sections
are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not required as part of the financial statements.
This information has not been subjected to auditing procedures and, accordingly, we express no opinion on
it.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a
whole. The schedules in the supplementary information section are presented for purposes of additional
analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.
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In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our reports dated January 14,
2009, on our consideration of the Museum’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.
The purpose of those reports is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal
control over financial reporting or on compliance. Those reports are an integral part of an audit performed
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be read in conjunction with this report in
assessing the results of our audits.

KPme LIP

January 14, 2009
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UNITED STATESHOLOCAUST MEMORIAL MUSEUM

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

Assets:
Cash and Fund Balance with Treasury
Short-term investments
Contributions receivable, net
Other assets
Long term investments
Property and equipment, net
Collections (note 2)
Total Assets

Liabilities:
Account payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Unexpended appropriations

Total Liabilities

Net assets:
Unrestricted:
Federal cumulative results of operations
Program and supporting activities
Funds functioning as endowment
Total unrestricted net assets

Temporarily restricted net assets

Permanently restricted net assets

Total net assets

Commitments and Contigencies

Total liabilities and net assets

See accompanying notesto financial statements.

Non-
appropriated Appropriated

Funds Funds Total
$ 1,275,630 $ 11,398,519 12,674,149
1,046,705 - 1,046,705
23,940,524 - 23,940,524
786,140 220,507 1,006,647
171,838,126 - 171,838,126
84,991,187 12,060,271 97,051,458
283,878,312 23,679,297 307,557,609
6,523,341 4,748,633 11,271,974
4,500,000 - 4,500,000
- 8,219,606 8,219,606
11,023,341 12,968,239 23,991,580
- 10,711,058 10,711,058
81,108,603 - 81,108,603
44,925,004 - 44,925,004
126,033,607 10,711,058 136,744,665
34,158,674 - 34,158,674
112,662,690 - 112,662,690
272,854,971 10,711,058 283,566,029
$ 283,878,312 $ 23,679,297 307,557,609

(Continued)
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UNITED STATESHOLOCAUST MEMORIAL MUSEUM

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

Support and revenues:
Federal appropriation revenue
Contributions
Membership revenue
Museum shop
Endowment payout
Contributed services
Imputed financing source
Other

Net assets released from restrictions:
Expiration of time restrictions
Satisfaction of program restrictions

Total support and revenues

Expenses:
Program services:
Museum operations
Center for Advanced Holocaust Studies
Museum and public programs
Outreach technology
Museum shop
Total program services
Supporting services:
Management and general
Membership development
Fundraising
Total supporting services
Total expenses
Support and revenues over (under)

Expenses

Investment return in excess
of endowment payout

Increase (decrease) in net assets

Net assets—beginning of year, as
restated (note 15)

Net assets—end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Non- Non-appropriated Funds
appropriated Appropriated Total Temporarily Permanently
Funds Funds Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

$ - $45,712,768 $ 45,712,768 $ - $ - $ 45,712,768
12,986,277 12,986,277 11,039,857 5,067,845 29,093,979
10,468,822 - 10,468,822 - - 10,468,822
2,337,921 - 2,337,921 - - 2,337,921
5,914,145 - 5,914,145 1,853,557 - 7,767,702
31,526 - 31,526 - - 31,526

- 1,141,023 1,141,023 - - 1,141,023

339,336 - 339,336 - - 339,336

1,466,461 - 1,466,461 (1,466,461) - -

6,641,057 - 6,641,057 (6,641,057) - -
40,185,545 46,853,791 87,039,336 4,785,896 5,067,845 96,893,077
3,847,920 21,217,063 25,064,983 - - 25,064,983
5,025,690 2,435,638 7,461,328 - - 7,461,328
10,326,468 10,583,583 20,910,051 - - 20,910,051
2,608,468 3,912,564 6,521,032 - - 6,521,032
1,993,700 - 1,993,700 - - 1,993,700
23,802,246 38,148,848 61,951,094 61,951,094
6,698,088 7,605,003 14,303,091 - - 14,303,091
4,928,002 - 4,928,002 - - 4,928,002
7,879,881 - 7,879,881 - - 7,879,881
19,505,971 7,605,003 27,110,974 - - 27,110,974
43,308,217 45,753,851 89,062,068 - - 89,062,068
(3,122,672) 1,099,940 (2,022,732) 4,785,896 5,067,845 7,831,009
(33,324,060) - (33,324,060) (7,241,494) 770,790 (39,794,764)
(36,446,732) 1,099,940 (35,346,792) (2,455,598) 5,838,635 (31,963,755)
162,480,339 9,611,118 172,091,457 36,614,272 106,824,055 315,529,784
$126,033,607 $10,711,058 $136,744,665 $34,158,674 $112,662,690 $283,566,029

(Continued)
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UNITED STATESHOLOCAUST MEMORIAL MUSEUM

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from Federal appropriation
Payments for Federal rescissions
Cancelled appropriation return to U.S. Treasury
Recei pts from contributions
Receipts from membership activities
Receipts from investments
Recei pts from museum shop, royalties, miscellaneous receipts
Payments for wages and benefits
Payments for consultants, advisors, and others
Payments for stipends, honoraria and grants
Payments for collections

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Purchase of investments
Sale of investments

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Permanently restricted contributions

Net cash provided by financing activities
Net decrease in cash
Cash and Fund Balance with Treasury—beginning of year

Cash and Fund Balance with Treasury—end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Total Non-
Appropriated Appropriated
Funds Funds Total
$ - $ 45,496,000 45,496,000
- (709,737) (709,737)
- (556,326) (556,326)
26,699,199 - 26,699,199
10,468,822 - 10,468,822
6,564,908 - 6,564,908
2,546,952 - 2,546,952
(17,798,206) (21,919,773) (39,717,979)
(19,823,325) (19,970,376) (39,793,701)
(1,069,310) - (1,069,310)
(43,315) - (43,315)
7,545,725 2,339,788 9,885,513
(2,798,555) (3,267,312) (6,065,867)
(46,200,817) - (46,200,817)
37,924,056 - 37,924,056
(11,075,316) (3,267,312) (14,342,628)
1,188,487 - 1,188,487
1,188,487 - 1,188,487
(2,341,104) (927,524) (3,268,628)
3,616,734 12,326,043 15,942,777
$ 1,275,630 $ 11,398,519 12,674,149
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UNITED STATESHOLOCAUST MEMORIAL MUSEUM

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

Reconciliation of change in net assets to net cash
provided by operating activities

Increase (decrease) in net assets

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by

operating activities:
Museum depreciation
Equipment depreciation
Exhibition amortization
Realized/unrealized losses on investments
Contributions of permanently restricted net assets

Change in assets and liabilites:
Decrease in contributions receivable, net
Decrease (increase) in other assets
Decrease in unexpended appropriation
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Increasein deferred revenues

Net cash provided by operating activities

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Total Non-
Appropriated Appropriated
Funds Funds Total
$ (33063695 $ 1,099,940 $ (31,963,755)
2,724,057 1,310,679 4,034,736
87,062 196,793 283,855
943,394 489,101 1,432,495
36,947,123 - 36,947,123
(1,188,487) - (1,188,487)
(4,459,673) - (4,459,673)
(109,990) 1,812 (108,178)
(1,482,832) (1,482,832)
1,165,934 724,295 1,890,229
4,500,000 - 4,500,000
$ 7545725 $ 2,339,788 $  9,885513
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United States Holocaust Memorial Museum
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2008

ORGANIZATION AND PURPOSE

Organization and Governance — The United States Holocaust Memorial Council (the “Museum”)
was created as an independent Federal establishment by Public Law 96-388 on October 7, 1980, for
the purposes of providing appropriate ways for the nation to commemorate the Days of
Remembrance; planning, constructing, and overseeing the operation of a permanent memorial
museum for the victims of the Holocaust; and developing a plan for carrying out the
recommendations made in the Report to the President of the United States by the President’s
Commission on the Holocaust, dated September 27, 1979. The U.S. Congress changed the name
from “Council” to “Museum” and permanently authorized the United States Holocaust Memorial
Museum by Public Law 106-292 (36 U.S.C. 2301, et. seq.) on October 12, 2000, designating the
Museum as an independent establishment of the United States Government.

The Museum is governed by 65 voting members and three nonvoting ex officio members
(the “Members™). Fifty-five voting Members are appointed by the President of the United States,
five are appointed by the Speaker of the U. S. House of Representatives from among Members of
the U. S. House of Representatives, and five are appointed by the President Pro Tempore of the
U. S. Senate, upon the recommendation of the majority and minority leaders, from among Members
of the U. S. Senate. One non-voting Member is appointed by each of the Secretaries of the Interior,
State, and Education departments. Members serve a term of five years or, in the case of Members of
Congress, until the end of the term of Congress.

The Museum receives an annual Federal appropriation (see Appropriated Funds — Note 8) and was
authorized by statute (36 U.S.C. Section 2307) to raise private funds (the “Non-appropriated
Funds™) to aid or facilitate the operation and maintenance of the Museum. These financial
statements present the financial position, activities, and cash flows of both the Appropriated Funds
and the Non-appropriated Funds of the Museum.

Tax-Exempt Status — The Museum is exempt from Federal taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the
Internal Revenue Code (the “Code™) of 1986 and, further, is a publicly supported entity as defined
by the Code.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles. The Museum’s financial statements are presented in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 117, Financial
Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations.

Significant accounting policies followed are summarized below:

Cash and Fund Balance with Treasury — Cash for Non-appropriated Funds consists of amounts
held in financial institutions for day to day operations. Fund balance with Treasury for Appropriated
Funds consists of funds held by the U.S. Department of Treasury.

Investments — Investments are reported at fair value, with gains and losses included in the
statement of activities. Short and long-term investments represent donated securities and the
investment of endowment funds.

(Continued)
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Short-term investments include money market funds and government securities with maturities of
less than one year, consistent with the cash management policy of the Museum. Certain liquid
investments are considered non-current assets, as they are restricted or intended to be held for long-
term purposes.

The whole endowment, consisting of the board-designated and real endowments, is pooled for
investment purposes. The endowment pays out an amount for annual support of operations and an
amount allowed to be spent for specific purposes based on the trailing 12-quarter fair market value
averages as calculated using data through June 30th of the preceding year. The difference between
the total return on the endowment (i.e., dividends, interest, and net gain or loss) and the current
payout is reported as non-operating income or loss in the statement of activities as investment return
(loss) adjusted for the endowment payout.

At September 30, 2008, the Museum reported approximately 63% of investments including short
term investments and gift annuities at fair value based on quoted market prices. The remaining
investments are reported at estimated fair values as determined by management based upon various
valuation techniques developed by general partners or investment managers.

Contributions — Unrestricted contributions are recorded as unrestricted support in the period
received. Unrestricted contributions with payments due in future periods are initially recorded as
temporarily restricted support due to inherent time restrictions. Once the contribution becomes due,
the temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets and are included in net
assets released from time restrictions in the accompanying statement of activities.

Contributions that are restricted for certain programs are initially recorded as temporarily restricted
support when received. When donor restrictions are met, the temporarily restricted net assets are
reclassified to unrestricted net assets and are included in net assets released from program
restrictions in the accompanying statement of activities. Temporarily restricted contributions
received during the year for which the restrictions are met during the same year are recorded as both
temporarily restricted contributions and net assets released from program restrictions in the
accompanying statement of activities.

Permanently restricted contributions are contributions restricted by donors for the Museum’s real
endowment and are recorded as permanently restricted support in the year received in the
accompanying statement of activities.

Membership — Membership dues are considered contributions and are recognized as revenue in the
period received. As such, total fundraising costs include both membership development and
fundraising expenses.

Split-Interest Agreements — Split-interest agreements with donors consist of charitable gift
annuities and an irrevocable remainder trust. For charitable gift annuities, the assets are recognized
at fair value at the date of the annuity agreements. An annuity liability is recognized for the present
value of future cash flows expected to be paid to the donor or the donor’s designee and contribution
revenues are recognized equal to the difference between the assets and the annuity liability.
Liabilities are adjusted during the term of the annuities for payments, accretion of discounts and
changes in life expectancies. The Museum uses the historical Internal Revenue Service discount
rates and tables compiled from the Office of the Actuary of the Social Security Administration for
life expectancies. The irrevocable remainder trust is included in contributions receivable at the
present value of the estimated future benefits to be received when the trust’s assets are distributed.

(Continued)
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Contribution revenue is recognized at the date the Museum first knows of the trust. The receivable is
adjusted during the term of the trust for the accretion of discounts, revaluation of the present value
of the estimated future payments to the current beneficiary, and changes in life expectancies, and the
change in split interest is recorded as contribution revenue.

Contributions Receivable — Unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected
within one year are reported at their net realizable value. Unconditional promises to give that are
expected to be collected in future years are discounted to their present value. Conditional promises
to give are not recognized in the accompanying financial statements until the conditions have been
met.

An allowance for uncollectible contributions is provided based on management’s evaluation of
potential uncollectible contributions receivable at year-end. The allowance is based on historical
data and is applied as a percentage of new receivables. Changes in the allowance for uncollectible
contributions are charged to the provision for bad debt expense.

Other Assets — Other assets consist primarily of prepayments and inventory from the Museum
bookstore (the “Museum Shop”). The Museum Shop sells Holocaust-related educational materials,
such as books and videotapes, to the public. The Museum Shop’s inventory was $199,439 as of
September 30, 2008 and is valued at the lower of cost or market using the first-in, first-out inventory
valuation method.

Property and Equipment — Furniture and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed
using the straight-line method. Estimated useful lives are three years for computer equipment and
five years for furniture and other equipment. The threshold for capitalization is $25,000.

The Museum opened to the public on April 26, 1993. All costs associated with the construction of
the Museum, including payments to construction contractors, architect’s fees, excavation costs,
direct materials and labor, Museum construction management, and interest were capitalized. All
interest incurred on borrowed funds through April 26, 1993, was capitalized because the funds were
specifically borrowed for the construction of the Museum. On April 26, 1993, depreciation on the
Museum commenced and is computed on the straight line basis over 40 years. The Exhibitions
include the cost to design and construct the permanent exhibition and temporary exhibitions. The
permanent exhibition is being depreciated on the straight line basis over 30 or 40 years and the
temporary exhibitions are amortized on a straight line basis over the life of the exhibition.
Renovations and improvements are recorded and depreciated on a straight line basis over 10 years.

The land on which the Museum has been constructed as well as an administrative building are titled
in the name of the U.S. Government and is not reflected in the accompanying financial statements.
The Museum reserves administrative jurisdiction over the property for as long as it is used to carry
out the mission of the Museum. The Museum has use of this land and building rent-free in
perpetuity.

Collections — The Museum acquires its collections, which include works of art, artifacts, archives,
film and video, oral history, and historical treasures, by purchase or by donation. All collections
are held for public exhibition, education, or research. The Museum’s collection policy includes
guidance on the preservation, care, and maintenance of the collections and procedures related to the
accession/deaccession of collections items.
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In conformity with the practice generally followed by museums, no value is assigned to the
collections in the statement of financial position. Purchases of collections items are recognized as
reductions in unrestricted net assets in the period of acquisition. Proceeds from deaccessions of
collection items are recognized as increases in the appropriate net asset class and are designated for
future collection acquisitions.

Accrued Vacation — The Museum records an expense and related liability for vacation earned and
unpaid at the end of year for non-Federal and Federal employees. This liability is reflected in
accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the accompanying statement of financial position.

Net Assets — The Museum classifies Non-appropriated net assets into three categories: unrestricted,
temporarily restricted, or permanently restricted. All contributions are considered to be available for
unrestricted use unless specifically restricted by the donor or by time. Temporarily restricted net
assets are contributions with temporary, donor-imposed time and/or program restrictions. These
temporary restrictions require that resources be used for specific purposes and/or in a later period.
Temporarily restricted net assets become unrestricted when the time restrictions expire and/or the
funds are used for their restricted purposes and are reported in the statement of activities as net
assets released from restrictions. Permanently restricted net assets represent donor-restricted
endowments to be held in perpetuity. Some donors require the Museum to reinvest all income
earned on investments in the permanently restricted endowment fund, with only the payout, based
on the Museum’s payout policy, available for expenditure.

Appropriated Funds — The Museum receives an annual appropriation from Congress.
Appropriations are used to fund certain Museum expenditures, as determined by the Museum and
implemented by management, in conformity with the Museum’s congressional mandate. Federal
appropriation revenues are classified as unrestricted and are recognized as revenue as expenditures
are incurred.

Non-appropriated Funds — The Non-appropriated Funds reflect the receipts and expenditures of
funds obtained from private sources through various fundraising and membership efforts, investment
income, and certain revenue-producing activities related to the operations of the Museum.

Imputed Financing Source — The Museum recognizes the cost of pensions and Federal retirement
benefits for its Federal employees during their active years of service, even though these costs will
ultimately be paid by the Office of Personnel Management. An imputed financing source is
recognized equal to this imputed cost in the Statement of Activities.

Financial Instruments — The Museum’s financial instruments as of September 30, 2008 consist of
cash, contributions receivable, investments, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities. The carrying
amounts of these financial instruments approximated their fair values as of September 30, 2008.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U. S. generally
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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3. FUND BALANCE WITH TREASURY

Fund Balance:
General Funds $ 11,398,519

Status of Fund Balance with Treasury:
Unobligated Balance

Available $ 2,807,411
Unavailable $ 1,094,707
Obligated not yet disbursed $ 7,496,401
Total $ 11,398,519

4. INVESTMENTS

The fair value of long-term investments at September 30, 2008, consisted of the following:

Portfolio cash $ 12,229,128
Domestic equities 56,100,975
International equities 24,576,368
Global equities 10,529,381
Fixed income 42,282,809
Multi-strategies/hedge funds 16,792,313
Distressed securities funds 3,261,293
Other mutual funds 2,883,645
Treasury securities 1,132,672
State of Israel bonds 2,049,542

$ 171,838,126

The Museum is obligated under the terms of certain limited partnership agreements to remit additional
funding periodically as capital calls are exercised. At September 30, 2008, the Museum had uncalled
commitments of approximately $4.6 million. In addition, approximately 2% of the long-term
investments are subject to redemption or lockup restrictions of three to six years.

Investments are professionally managed by outside investment organizations subject to direction and
oversight by the Investment Committee of the Museum. The Museum has established investment
policies and guidelines that provide for asset allocation and performance objectives.
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Short-term investments, at fair value at September 30, 2008 consist of the following:

Money market funds $ 1,046,687
Donated stock 18
$ 1,046,705

The Museum uses the spending rule concept in making distributions from its investments. Under
this method, a portion of its investments is distributed at the beginning of the current fiscal year as
unrestricted and temporarily restricted operating amounts (“endowment payout™). The endowment
payout is calculated based on the trailing 12-quarter fair market value averages as calculated using
data through June 30th of the previous year.

Total operating and non-operating investment losses for the year ended September 30, 2008 is
summarized below:

Interest and dividends $ 4,920,062

Net realized loss (2,203,707)
Net unrealized loss (34,147,019)
Investment managment fees (596,398)
Net investment loss $ (32,027,062)
Endowment payout $ 7,767,702

Investment return in excess of endowment payout (39,794,764)
Net investment loss $ (32,027,062)

During the year ended September 30, 2008, certain donor-restricted endowment funds incurred
losses which reduced the fair value below the historic dollar value of such gifts of approximately
$1,600,000. The Museum previously adopted the District of Columbia law, the Uniform
Management of Institutional Funds Act (“UMIFA”), which required the restoration of these
endowment funds to the historic dollar value using accumulated earnings.

SPLIT-INTEREST AGREEMENTS

Included in the mutual funds amount is approximately $2.9 million for charitable gift annuities in
2008. These investments are recognized at fair value using quoted market prices. An annuity
liability for approximately $1,807,000 in 2008 is reflected as long term liabilities and represents the
present value of future cash flows expected to be paid to the donor or the donor’s designee. The
revenue and change in value of split-interest agreements recognized for charitable gift annuities was
$137,859 and ($180,737) in 2008.

(Continued)
-43-



United States Holocaust Memorial Museum
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2008

CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE

Contributions receivable in the accompanying statement of financial position as of September 30,
2008 included the following unconditional promises to give:

Amounts due in:

Less than one year $ 9,106,888
One to five years 15,929,124
More than five years 1,071,617
Subtotal 26,107,629
Less:
Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,233,458)
Discount to present value (1.0%-4.9%) (933,647)
$23,940,524

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

At September 30, 2008 property and equipment consist of the following:

Non-
Appropriated Appropriated
Funds Funds Total
Buildings and capital improvement $108,896,449 $ 14,843,832 $123,740,281
Furniture and equipment 6,700,515 8,698,593 15,399,108
Exhibitions 28,604,747 9,117,404 37,722,151
Leasehold improvements 1,574,110 63,505 1,637,615
Total 145,775,821 32,723,334 178,499,155
Less accumulated depreciation (60,784,634) (20,663,063) (81,447,697)

Total property and equipment $ 84,991,187 $ 12,060,271 $ 97,051,458

APPROPRIATED FUNDS

The fiscal year 2008 Federal appropriations, net of rescissions, totaled $44,786,263, which includes
appropriations of $1,244,282 for exhibition development and production and $1,870,360 for
building repair and rehabilitation, to be used by the Museum until expended. Beginning in fiscal
year 2008, the Museum received additional funding for a three year appropriation in the amount of
$506,966 to be used for equipment replacement.
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Below is a reconciliation of the fiscal year 2008 Federal appropriations received to Federal
appropriations expended:

Federal appropriation $ 44,786,263
Unexpended appropriation — current year (5,252,880)
Amounts obligated in previous years — expended in current year 6,179,385
Federal appropriation revenue $ 45,712,768

Below is a reconciliation of the spending of the fiscal year 2008 appropriations:

Total expenses $ 45,753,851
Depreciation and amortization (1,996,573)
Unpaid vacation and other unfunded expenses (1,311,823)
Unexpended appropriation — current year 5,252,880
Amounts obligated in previous years — expended in current year (6,179,385)
Capital expenditures 3,267,312
Federal appropriation $ 44,786,262

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Museum has leases for regional offices, warehouses, and additional office space. These leases
expire at various dates through 2017. Annual minimum lease payments due under operating leases
in effect at September 30, 2008 are summarized as follows:

2009 $ 1,053,349
2010 1,050,368
2011 875,328
2012 857,551
2013 835,345
Thereafter 3,231,743
$__ 7903684

Rent expense for fiscal year 2008 was $3,012,836. This amount was comprised of appropriated
funds and non-appropriated funds of $2,468,774 and $544,062, respectively.

RETIREMENT PLANS

Although the Museum funds a portion of the pension benefits for its Appropriated Fund employees
under the Civil Service Retirement System and the Federal Employees Retirement System (the
Systems) and makes the necessary payroll withholdings from them, the Museum is not required to
disclose the Systems’ assets or the actuarial data with respect to accumulated plan benefits or the
unfunded pension liability relative to its employees. Reporting such amounts is the direct
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responsibility of the United States Office of Personnel Management (OPM). The Museum’s expense
for these Appropriated plans in fiscal year 2008 was $2,569,818.

The Museum recognizes the cost of pensions and other retirement benefits during its employees’
active years of service. OPM determines pension cost factors by calculating the value of pension
benefits expected to be paid in the future, and communicates these factors to the Museum for current
period expense reporting. OPM also provides cost factors regarding the full cost of health and life
insurance benefits. In fiscal year 2008, the Museum, utilizing OPM’s cost factors, recognized
$177,741 of pension expenses, $960,480 of post-retirement health benefits expenses, and $2,802 of
post-retirement life insurance expenses, beyond amounts actually paid. The Museum recognized
offsetting revenue of $1,141,023 as an imputed financing source to the extent these
intragovernmental expenses will be paid by OPM.

The Museum sponsors a defined contribution salary deferral 403(b) plan for its Non-appropriated
Fund employees. Starting January 1, 2007, the Museum contributes 8% of annual pay for each
eligible employee. In addition, the Museum matches 100 percent of the participant contributions up
to 4% of annual pay. The Museum’s expense for the 403(b) plan in 2008 was $1,408,347.

FEDERAL EMPLOYEES’ COMPENSATION ACT ACTUARIAL LIABILITY

The Department of Labor (DOL) provided the Museum with the calculation model and ratios to
determine this liability as of September 30, 2008. The Museum recognizes the actuarial cost of
future Federal Employees’ Compensation Act (FECA) benefits. The estimated FECA actuarial
liability represents the expected liability of benefits to be paid for death, disability, medical, and
miscellaneous costs for approved compensation cases beyond the current fiscal year plus a
component for incurred but not reported claims. The estimated future costs are regarded as a liability
because neither the costs nor the reimbursements have been recognized by DOL.

The actuarial calculation takes the amount of Museum benefit payments over the last 12 quarters,
and calculates the annual average of payments for medical expenses and compensation. This average
is then multiplied by the liability-to-benefits-paid ratios for the Government-wide FECA program
for fiscal year 2008. The fiscal year 2008 Appropriated actuarial liability is $65,522, and the fiscal
year 2008 Non-appropriated actuarial liability is $357,330.

The FECA actuarial liability is recorded for financial reporting purposes only. This liability
constitutes an extended future estimate of cost which will not be obligated against budgetary
resources until the fiscal year in which DOL actually bills the cost to the Museum. The cost
associated with this liability cannot be met by the Museum without further appropriation action.

An unfunded liability is recorded for future payments to be made for workers’ compensation
pursuant to FECA. The liability consists of the un-reimbursed cost paid by DOL for compensation
paid to recipients under FECA. The costs incurred are reflected as a liability because the Museum
will reimburse DOL two years after the payment of expenses by DOL. Future museum
appropriations and Non-appropriated funds will be used to reimburse DOL for appropriate
payments. The fiscal year unfunded liability for the Museum’s Appropriated and Non-appropriated
fund employees is $4,230 and $200 respectively.
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12. TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

Temporarily restricted net assets at September 30, 2008 are available for the following programs or

periods:
Contributions to be received in future periods — for general use $ 4,080,448
Secure the Future 4,007,828
National Institute for Holocaust Education 9,235,408
Rescue the Evidence 6,417,265
Center for Advanced Holocaust Studies 8,907,725
Committee on Conscience 1,510,000
Total temporarily restricted net assets $ 34,158,674

13. PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

At September 30, 2008 permanently restricted net assets are restricted in perpetuity, the income
from which is expendable to support the following purposes:

Secure the Future $ 79,324,704
National Institute for Holocaust Education 10,363,670
Rescue the Evidence 1,757,234
Center for Advanced Holocaust Studies 18,650,557
Committee on Conscience 2,566,525
Total permanently restricted net assets $ 112,662,690

14. CONTRIBUTED SERVICES

In-kind contributions of goods and services totaling $31,526 were received by the Museum during
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008. This amount has been recognized as revenue and expense
in the accompanying statement of activities. In addition to the contributed services recognized in the
financial statements, the Museum has more than 500 volunteers, including 89 Holocaust survivors,
donating more than 23,000 hours annually. The value of these contributions is not susceptible to
objective measurement and does not meet the criteria for recognition of in-kind contributions and,
accordingly, is not recognized in the financial statements.

15. RESTATEMENT

The Museum restated its October 1, 2007 beginning net asset balances to properly present its
permanent exhibition, other program development costs, and collections balances (inexhaustible
assets). During 2008, management determined that approximately $32,800,000 of the amounts
reported in the inexhaustible assets were costs incurred in the construction of the exhibits and
building improvements and, therefore, are not works of art or historical treasures and do not meet
the definition of a collection under generally accepting accounting principles. However, these
amounts do meet the definition of a depreciable asset and therefore, the Museum will reclassify the
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amounts to Exhibitions in the Property and Equipment and recognize the accumulated depreciation
since 1993 in the restatement adjustment below.

Included within inexhaustible assets was approximately $2,300,000 of actual collections, historical
treasures, that are worthy of preserving in perpetuity, that were capitalized at cost during the
construction of the Museum. However, the Museum’s policy since the completion of the Museum
and the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 116, Accounting for
Contributions Received and Contributions Made, has been to not capitalize the cost or donated
value of collections. As such, the collections capitalized should have been removed at the adoption
of SFAS 116. Although not tracked for financial reporting purposes, the Museum curator maintains
a collections tracking system in accordance with Code of Ethics standards adopted by the American
Association of Museums.

The Museum also restated its October 1, 2007 beginning net asset balances to properly present its
permanently restricted, temporarily restricted, and unrestricted net assets.  During 2008,
management determined that approximately $39,000,000 of the amounts reported in permanently
restricted net assets related to income earned on the endowment which the donors stipulated for
unrestricted or temporarily restricted purposes. The Museum will reclassify the income earned to
the appropriate net assets category in accordance with the donors’ intent.

The Museum previously presented in one set of financial statements its appropriated activities
under Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) reporting principles and its non-
appropriated activities using Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) reporting principles.
In 2008, the Museum with the permission of OMB, applied the FASB reporting principles to both
its appropriated and non-appropriated activities. One impact of presenting its statement of financial
position and changes in net assets under FASB is to reclassify the unexpended appropriation
balance of approximately $9,700,000 from federal equity to liabilities and to report its federal
equity in the unrestricted net assets balance.

(Continued)
- 48-



United States Holocaust Memorial Museum

Notes to Financial Statements

September 30, 2008

Below is a summary of the adjustments made by the Museum to the October 1, 2007 beginning balances:

October 1, 2007, previously
reported balances: $

Adjustments to restate beginning
balances for the following:

To recognize depreciation on
assets that have a determinate
useful life:

To remove cost of collections
improperly capitalized by the
Museum at inception:

To correct classification of
endowment income in
accordance with donor intent:

To recognize federal
appropriation in accordance with
not-for-profit accounting
principles:

October 1, 2007, restated balances: $

NON-APPROPRIATED FUNDS

APPROPRIATED FUNDS

Temporarily  Permanently Unexpended Expended
Unrestricted Net Restricted Net Restricted Net Appropriations, Federal Total Net
Assets Assets Assets Federal equity Equity Assets

153,800,433 20,820,434 145,755,341 9,702,438 11,507,092 $ 341,585,738

(12,394,287) (1,689,250) (14,083,537)

(2,063,255) (206,724) (2,269,979)
23,137,448 15,793,838 (38,931,286)

(9,702,438) (9,702,438)

162,480,339 36,614,272 106,824,055 - 9,611,118 $ 315,529,784

16. RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Museum invests in various investment securities. Investment securities are exposed to various
risks such as interest rate, market, and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with certain
investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in the values of investment
securities will occur in the near term and that such changes could materially affect the amounts
reported in the statement of financial position.
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UNIFORM PRUDENT MANAGEMENT OF INSTITUTIONAL FUNDS ACT AND
IMPLEMENTATION OF FAS 117-1

Through September 30, 2008, the United States Holocaust Memorial Museum’s management and
investment of donor-restricted endowment funds was carried out in @ manner intended to conform
to the Uniform Management of Institutional Funds Act (“UMIFA”). As an independent
establishment of the United States Government created by federal law and carrying out the
obligations of the United States, the Museum enjoys the constitutional immunity of the United
States from regulation by states as conferred by the Supremacy Clause of the Constitution. In
essence, the states (including the District of Columbia) may not interfere with or regulate federal
operations unless Congress affirmatively declares its instrumentalities and property subject to state
regulation, which it has not done with respect to UMIFA. Consequently, the Museum is not subject
to UMIFA. However, the Museum long ago adopted practices with regard to the management and
investment of donor-restricted endowment funds that are generally consistent with the UMIFA
standards.

In 2006, the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws (“NCCUSL”)
approved a revised model act, the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act
(“UPMIFA”) that serves states as a guideline to use in enacting legislation. Among UPMIFA’s
most significant changes is the elimination of UMIFA’s important concept of historic dollar value
threshold, the amount below which an organization could not spend from the fund, in favor of a
more robust set of guidelines about what constitutes prudent spending.

On January 23, 2008, the District of Columbia adopted UPMIFA, the provisions of which apply to
funds existing on or established after that date and to decisions made and actions taken after that
date. Like UMIFA, UPMIFA is a District of Columbia law that is inapplicable to the
Museum/United States Government because of the Supremacy Clause of the United States
Constitution.

In August 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Staff Position
No. FAS 117-1, Endowments of Not-for-Profit Organizations: Net Asset Classification of Funds
Subject to an Enacted Version of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act and
Enhanced Disclosures for All Endowment Funds (“FSP”). The guidance is effective for fiscal years
ending after December 15, 2008. A key component of that FSP is a requirement to classify the
portion of a donor-restricted endowment fund that is not classified as permanently restricted net
assets as temporarily restricted net assets until appropriated for expenditure. The General Counsel
intends to recommend to the Museum’s governing Council that the Council adopt policies
consistent with the UPMIFA for the year ending September 30, 2009. Upon such adoption of
UPMIFA and the FSP, the Museum will be required to reflect a retrospective reclassification of net
assets from unrestricted to temporarily restricted of approximately $5,700,000. The Museum does
not believe this net asset reclassification will be operationally significant. Another key component
of that FSP is a requirement for expanded disclosures for all endowment funds.

(Continued)
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United States Holocaust Memorial Museum
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2008

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Recent market conditions have resulted in an unusually high degree of volatility and increased the
risks and short term liquidity associated with certain investments held by the Museum which could
impact the value of investments after the date of financial statements. Subsequent to year-end,
consistent with declines in the financial markets, the Museum’s investments have experienced
significant losses. The ultimate impact on the financial statements will be determined based on
market conditions in effect at September 30, 20009.
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SCHEDULE 1
UNITED STATESHOLOCAUST MEMORIAL MUSEUM

SCHEDULE OF BUDGETARY RESOURCES - APPROPRIATED FUNDS
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

BUDGETARY RESOURCESAVAILABLE TO THE MUSEUM

Unobligated balance, brought forward, October 1 $ 3,839,026
Recoveries of prior year unpaid obligations 401,674
Budgetary authority: appropriations received 45,496,000
Spending authority from offsetting collections - collected 4,673
Rescission - permanently not available (709,737)
Canceled appropriation - permanently not available (556,326)

Total Budgetary Resources 48,475,310

STATUSOF BUDGETARY RESOURCES

Obligationsincurred 44,573,193
Unobligated balance - available Apportioned 2,807,411
Unobligated balance not available 1,094,706

Status of Budgetary Resources 48,475,310

CHANGE IN OBLIGATED BALANCE

Obligated balances, net

Unpaid obligations, brought forward, October 1 8,487,017
Obligations incurred net 44,573,193
Less: gross outlays (45,162,135)
Less: recoveries of prior year unpaid obligations, actual (401,674)

Obligated balances, net, end of period 7,496,401

NET OUTLAYS

Gross Outlays 45,162,135

Less: Offsetting collections (4,673)

Net Outlays $ 45,157,462
(Continued)
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SCHEDULE 2

UNITED STATESHOLOCAUST MEMORIAL MUSEUM

SCHEDULE OF NET COST - APPROPRIATED FUNDS

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

PROGRAM COSTS

Museum operations

Center for Advanced Holocaust Studies
Museum and public programs

Outreach technol ogy

Management and general

NET COST OF OPERATIONS
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Intra-

gover nmental Public Total

$ 4,209,965 $ 17,007,098 $ 21,217,063
414,586 2,021,052 2,435,638
2,077,761 8,505,822 10,583,583
439,016 3,473,548 3,912,564
1,612,672 5,992,331 7,605,003

$ 8,754,000 $ 36,999,851 $ 45,753,851

(Continued)



SCHEDULE 3
UNITED STATESHOLOCAUST MEMORIAL MUSEUM

SCHEDULE OF CHANGESIN NET POSITION - APPROPRIATED FUNDS
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

Cumulative Results Unexpended
of Operations Appropriations
Beginning balances, as restated $ 9,611,118 $ 9,702,437
Budgetary financing sources:

Appropriations received (current period) - 45,496,000

Rescissions - (709,737)

Canceled appropriations - (556,326)

Appropriations used 45,712,768 (45,712,768)
Other financing resources:

Imputed financing from costs absorbed by others 1,141,023 -
Total financing sources 46,853,791 (1,482,831)
Total 56,464,909 8,219,606
Net cost of operations 45,753,851 -
Ending balances $ 10,711,058 $ 8,219,606

(Continued)
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SCHEDULE 4
UNITED STATESHOLOCAUST MEMORIAL MUSEUM

SCHEDULE RECONCILING NET COST OF OPERATIONSTO BUDGET

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

Total resources used to finance activities:
Obligations, offsetting receipts, imputed financing sources
Change in budgetary resources obligated for goods and services
Resources that finance the acquisition of capital assets
Total resources used to finance the net cost of operations

Components requiring or generating resources in future periods:
Annual leave liability increase
Unfunded FECA, Non-Budgetary Receivables, Actuarial FECA
Components not requiring or generating resources:
Depreciation and amortization

Total components of the net cost of operations that will not require

or generate resources in the current period

Net cost of operations
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45,307,869
1,544,269
(3,267,312)

43,584,826

155,532
16,920

1,996,573

2,169,025

45,753,851




SCHEDULE 5
UNITED STATESHOLOCAUST MEMORIAL MUSEUM

SCHEDULE OF CLAIMS CONFERENCE PAYMENTS
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

Grant Award

112-30448-7

162-30448-9

192-30448-11

192-30448-14

SWVLP-30448-15

222-30448-16

172-30448-10 & SWVLP-30448-13
SWVLP-30448-17

252-30448-18

SWVLP-7669-20

SWVLP-7832

SWVLP-8135

Fiscal Year 2008 Paymentsto USHMM
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Payments

$ 31
6,946
4,685

94,950
22,057
287,919
11,067
432,470
310,969
58,108
250,000
137,444

$ 1,616,647




INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORTS ON INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS
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2001 M Street, NW
Washington, DC 20036

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Council Members
United States Holocaust Memorial Museum:

We have audited the statement of financial position of the United States Holocaust Memorial Museum (the
Museum) as of September 30, 2008, and the related statements of activities, and cash flows (hereinafter
referred to as “financial statements”) for the year then ended, and have issued our report thereon dated
January 14, 2009. As described in note 15 to the financial statements of the Museum, net assets as of
September 30, 2007 have been restated from the Museum’s previously issued financial statements, which
were audited by other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Bulletin
No. 07-04, Audit Requirements for Federal Financial Statements. Those standards and OMB Bulletin
No. 07-04 require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement.

The management of the Museum is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control.
In planning and performing our fiscal year 2008 audit, we considered the Museum’s internal control over
financial reporting by obtaining an understanding of the Museum’s internal control, determining whether
internal controls had been placed in operation, assessing control risk, and performing tests of controls as a
basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial
statements. To achieve this purpose, we did not test all internal controls relevant to operating objectives as
broadly defined by the Federal Managers’ Financial Integrity Act of 1982. The objective of our audit was
not to express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Museum’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Museum’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the
preceding paragraph and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in the internal control over
financial reporting that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses.

A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect misstatements
on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies,
that adversely affects the Museum’s ability to initiate, authorize, record, process, or report financial data
reliably in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles such that there is more than a
remote likelihood that a misstatement of the Museum’s financial statements that is more than
inconsequential will not be prevented or detected by the Museum’s internal control. A material weakness is
a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that results in more than a remote
likelihood that a material misstatement of the financial statements will not be prevented or detected by the
Museum’s internal control.
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In our fiscal year 2008 audit, we consider the deficiency, described in Exhibit I, to be a material weakness
in internal control over financial reporting.

The Museum’s response to the finding identified in our audit is presented in Exhibit I. We did not audit the
Museum’s response and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.

We noted certain additional matters that we have reported to management of the Museum in a separate
letter dated January 14, 2009.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Museum’s management, Council
Members, OMB, the U.S. Government Accountability Office, and the U.S. Congress and is not intended to
be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

KPMme LIP

January 14, 2009
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Independent Auditors’ Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Exhibit | — Material Weakness

FINANCIAL REPORTING

During our fiscal year 2008 audit engagement, we noted certain deficiencies in the United States Holocaust
Memorial Museum’s (the Museum) internal controls over financial reporting that affected its ability to ensure
that transactions are properly recorded and summarized to permit the preparation of financial statements in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Permanent Exhibitions, Other Program Development Costs, and Collections

During fiscal year 2008, it was determined that a significant portion of the amounts reported in inexhaustible
assets were costs incurred during the construction of the exhibits and internal building improvements. These
costs were not related to works of art or historical treasures and did not meet the definition of a collection under
U.S. generally accepting accounting principles. However, these costs did meet the definition of a depreciable
assets and therefore, in fiscal year 2008, the Museum reclassified these amounts to property and equipment and
recognized the accumulated depreciation on the assets that had been in service since 1993 as part of a restatement
to the beginning net assets balances.

Also included within inexhaustible assets were actual collections and historical treasures worthy of preserving in
perpetuity, which were capitalized at cost during the construction of the Museum. However, the Museum’s
policy since the completion of the Museum and the adoption of Statement of Financial Account Standards
(SFAS) 116, Accounting for Contributions Received and Contributions Made, has been to not capitalize the cost
or donated value of collections. As such, the collections capitalized should have been removed at the adoption of
SFAS 116. Although not tracked for financial reporting purposes, the Museum curator maintains a collections
tracking system in accordance with Code of Ethics adopted by the American Association of Museums.

Permanently Restricted Assets

The Museum has historically recorded endowment investment income in excess of the payout rate in
permanently restricted net assets. In reviewing a sample of gift agreements and other documentation, we noted
the donor documentation in many instances did not support the permanent restriction of the investment income.
Management performed a review of the entire endowment population to evaluate the proper classification of
investment income. As a result, a significant adjustment was required to reclassify investment income previously
reported as permanently restricted income to temporarily or unrestricted net assets.

Furthermore, we noted several instances where endowment balances were underwater at September 30, 2008 as
the current value of the accounts were less than the original corpus of the gifts. In several instances, payouts were
made on these underwater endowments at the end of fiscal year 2008. We proposed adjustments to restore the
permanently restricted net asset balances to the original corpus amounts by reclassifying the losses to unrestricted
net assets in accordance with relevant accounting principles.

Federal Equity
The Museum has an unusual operating structure because it is an independent Federally established not-for-profit
that is exempt from Federal taxes under Section 501c(3) of the Internal Revenue code that receives

approximately 50% of its funding through an annual Federal appropriation.

Prior to fiscal year 2008, in order to meet the needs of both non-for-profit accounting and federal reporting
requirements, management presented financial statements using elements of Financial Accounting Standard
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Board (FASB) pronouncements, Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board pronouncements and OMB
Circular A-136. However, the financial statements did not completely comply with either set of pronouncements.
Compliance with generally accepted accounting principles requires fulfilling one of the pronouncements,
although additional information would be permitted.

In fiscal year 2008, the Museum with the permission of OMB, applied the FASB reporting principles to both its
appropriated and non-appropriated activities.

Cause and Effect

The permanent exhibitions and collections errors occurred because the Museum did not consistently apply its
policies and procedures related to collections and the capitalization of assets. In addition, the Museum did not
have sufficient policies and procedures in place to ensure that earnings related to endowments were properly
reported. The practice of presenting its financial statements using elements of both FASB and FASAB
pronouncements resulted from the Museum’s challenge of meeting the reporting needs of both the federal
agencies and the non-Federal constituents.

As a result of the errors related to the permanent exhibitions and collections, total net assets were overstated by
approximately $16.3 million. In addition, permanently restricted assets were overstated by approximately $39
million as a result of the errors related to the endowment. The Museum restated its beginning net assets balances
during fiscal year 2008 to correct these errors.

One impact of presenting its statement of financial position and changes in net assets under FASB was to
reclassify the unexpended appropriation balance of approximately $9.7 million from federal equity to liabilities
and to report its federal equity in the unrestricted net assets balance.

Recommendations

We recommend the Museum strengthen its understanding of relevant accounting principles especially in the
areas of not-for-profit specific standards including contributions, endowments, collections, and financial
presentation. We recommend the Museum design and implement internal controls to ensure the accounting and
reporting of contributions, endowment activity, and collections provide accurate and timely financial information
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. We also recommend the Museum develop a written
manual that documents all significant and relevant accounting policies and procedures to ensure the Museum’s
polices and practices are a formal permanent record that serves as a resource to both current Museum staff as
well as future staff in the event of staff turnover.

Management Response

We concur with the recommendations. The Museum will strengthen its understanding of relevant accounting
policies by reviewing Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) pronouncements and taking on-line
training courses for not-for-profit organizations. The Museum will implement internal controls to ensure the
accounting and reporting of contributions and endowment activities are in accordance with general accepted
accounting principles. The Museum has hired a Senior Investment Officer, whose primary duties are to manage
the endowment activities and to keep abreast of new policies that affect the accounting treatment of endowments.
The Museum has also hired a Director of Development Services who will be working closely with the Finance
Office to establish procedures to improve the accounting for contributions. The Museum is in the process of
updating the capitalization policy to state that the Museum does not capitalize collections. The Acting Chief
Financial Officer has started a formal permanent file on the Museum’s significant policies and practices.
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2001 M Street, NW
Washington, DC 20036

Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance and Other Matters

Council Members
United States Holocaust Memorial Museum:

We have audited the statement of financial position of the United States Holocaust Memorial Museum (the
Museum) as of September 30, 2008, and the related statements of activities, and cash flows (hereinafter
referred to as “financial statements”) for the year then ended, and have issued our report thereon dated
January 14, 2009. As described in note 15 to the financial statements of the Museum, net assets as of
September 30, 2007 have been restated from the Museum’s previously issued financial statements, which
were audited by other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Bulletin
No. 07-04, Audit Requirements for Federal Financial Statements. Those standards and OMB Bulletin
No. 07-04 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement.

The management of the Museum is responsible for complying with laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements applicable to the Museum. As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the
Museum’s fiscal year 2008 financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of
the Museum’s compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements,
noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of the financial
statement amounts, and certain provisions of other laws and regulations specified in OMB Bulletin No. 07-
04. We limited our tests of compliance to the provisions described in the preceding sentence, and we did
not test compliance with all laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements applicable to the Museum.
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

The results of our tests of compliance described in the preceding paragraph of this report disclosed no
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported herein under Government
Auditing Standards or OMB Bulletin No. 07-04.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Museum’s management, Council
Members, OMB, the U.S. Government Accountability Office, and the U.S. Congress and is not intended to
be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

KPMme LIP

January 14, 2009
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